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Disclaimer – Forward Looking Statements 
 
In this Interim Financial Report, Aperam makes certain forward-looking statements with respect to, among other topics, its financial position, business                    
strategy, projected costs, projected savings, and the plans and objectives of its management. 
 
Such statements are identified by the use of forward-looking verbs such as ‘anticipate’, ‘intend’, ‘expect’, ‘plan’, ‘believe’, or ‘estimate’, or words or phrases                       
with similar meanings. Aperam’s actual results may differ materially from those implied by such forward-looking statements due to the known and unknown                      
risks and uncertainties to which it is exposed, including, without limitation, the risks described in this Interim Financial Report. Aperam does not make any                        
representation, warranty or prediction that the results anticipated by such forward-looking statements will be achieved. Please refer to the ‘Summary of                     
Principal Risks and Uncertainties’ section of this report. In each case, such forward-looking statements represent only one of many possible scenarios and                      
should not necessarily be viewed as the most likely to occur or standard scenario. Aperam undertakes no obligation to publicly update its forward-looking                       
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. In particular, the length and severity of the recent COVID-19 (coronavirus)                       
outbreak,including its impacts in the sector, macroeconomic conditions and in Aperam's principal local markets may cause our actual results to be materially                      
different than those expressed in our forward-looking statements. Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references in this Interim                    
Financial Report to ‘Aperam’, the ‘Group’ and the ‘Company’ or similar terms refer to Aperam, ‘société anonyme’, having its registered office at 12C, Rue                        
Guillaume Kroll, L-1882 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, and to its consolidated subsidiaries. 
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Interim Management Report  

Company Overview 
 
 
Overview 

 
Aperam, including its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as “Aperam”, “the Company”, “We” or “the Group”),               
is a leading global producer of stainless and specialty steels, with an annual production capacity of 2.5 million                  
tonnes. We are a leading stainless and specialty steel producer in South America and the second largest                 
producer in Europe. We are also a leading producer of high value added specialty products, including grain                 
oriented (GO) and non-grain oriented (NGO) electrical steels and specialty alloys. Our production capacity is               
spread across six production facilities located in Brazil, Belgium and France. As of the end of June 2020, we                   
have a workforce of about 9,500 employees. 

 
Since its creation, Aperam has successfully pursued a strategy designed to reinforce our market robustness.               
We accomplish this by leveraging our in-house internal improvement measures and by relying on our own                
resources. 

 
We are committed to operating in a responsible manner, respecting the health, safety and well-being of our                 
employees, contractors and the communities we operate in. We are also committed to the sustainable               
management of the environment and the finite resources it provides.  

 
Our products are sold in over 40 countries and to customers operating in a range of industries, including                  
aerospace, automotive, catering, construction, household appliances, electrical engineering, industrial         
processes, medical, and oil & gas.  

 
Our business is organised into three primary operating segments: Stainless & Electrical Steel, Services &               
Solutions, and Alloys & Specialties. 

 
In 2019, Aperam had sales of EUR 4,240 million and steel shipments of 1.79 million tonnes with an average                   
carbon footprint of 0.48 tons of CO2 per ton of slabs, making it the world's lowest CO2 footprint stainless steel                    1

producer. For the six months ending June 30, 2020, Aperam had €1.9 billion in sales and shipments of 0.81                   
million tonnes, compared to the respective €2.3 billion and 0.97 million tonnes posted for the six months                 
ending June 30, 2019. 

 
Contacts 
 
The Company is a Luxembourg public limited liability company (société anonyme) incorporated on September              
9, 2010.  
 
The Company has its registered office at 12C, rue Guillaume Kroll, L-1882 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of                
Luxembourg, and is registered with the Luxembourg Register of Commerce and Companies under the              
number B155.908. 
 
The mailing address and telephone number of Aperam’s registered office are: 12C, rue Guillaume Kroll,               
L-1882 Luxembourg, Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg, tel: +352 27 36 27 00. 

 
To contact Aperam by email, please write to contact@aperam.com. Please include your full name, postal               
address and telephone number. 
 
 
 
 

1 Reviewed by an external audit firm: Deloitte Audit s.à.r.l., (Scope 1+2) 
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Message from the CEO 
  

 

“ 
Since the onset of this pandemic we have adapted our operations and way             
of working to protect the health and well being of our employees which is              
of paramount importance to us. 
 
While the impact of this crisis is considerable, I would like to reassure you              
that Aperam is a resilient company and that we have continued to focus on              
generating value even in these demanding times.  
 
Looking ahead, we will continue to protect the health and well being of our              
employees while delivering the best added value products and unique          
services to our customers. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

” 

Dear Stakeholders, 
 
The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak on our society and our economies are unprecedented in                
peacetime. Since the onset of this pandemic we have adapted our operations and way of working to protect                  
the health and well being of our employees which is of paramount importance to us. Where possible, our                  
employees have worked remotely from home. Where our facilities continued to operate, we implemented              
robust processes in accordance with recommendations issued by the WHO and national governments to              
protect our employees and stop the spread of this virus. I thank our employees for their high engagement and                   
flexibility in adapting to this new environment and we will continue to do everything to support and look after                   
our employees and the people we serve. In this context, I am pleased to report that the level of accidents                    
measured by our lost time frequency rate improved over the first half of 2020, reaching 1.3x compared to 1.7x                   
in 2019. Although this performance is encouraging, there is still more we can do to achieve our ultimate goal                   
of becoming an accident-free workplace. 
 
While the impact of this crisis is considerable, I would like to reassure you that Aperam is a resilient company                    
and we have continued to focus on generating value even in these demanding times. As I will describe in                   
greater detail, Aperam has a solid cash generation, ample liquidity, and a strong balance sheet. In addition we                  
have taken swift mitigation actions, and have ambitious targets to further improve our operational efficiency. 
 
Turning to our financial performance, we started well into the year 2020 with a first quarter of the year marked                    
by a seasonal volume recovery and the exhaustion of some import quotas increasing demand for               
domestically produced material although prices remained flat. However, towards the end of the first quarter               
we started to face significant COVID-19 related effects which continued over the second quarter: our               
operational performance declined quarter-on-quarter, with an EBITDA of €70 million in Q1 2020 and €49               
million in Q2 2020 and our volumes declined by 14% quarter-on-quarter. On a half-year basis, our EBITDA                 
represented €119 million (H1 2019: €176 million), our net income was positive at €50 million (H1 2019: €82                  
million), and our net debt remained at a low level at €123 million (H1 2019: €176 million). Cash flow from                    
operations remained positive at €120million (H1 2019: €168 million). Compared to the situation at our creation                
in 2011 (2011: net debt €679 million, net loss €45 million), Aperam is in a much stronger position, but with the                     
deteriorating business environment more actions have been initiated rapidly: 
 

● A maximum of costs are being variabilized, and fixed costs are being reduced in line with volume                 
development; 

● All non-essential, and discretionary expenses have been frozen; 
● Capital expenditures have been reviewed, and we estimate 2020 capex to reach about €100 million               

of which half is for our new Cold Rolling and Annealing and Pickling Line in Genk and projects under                   
our Leadership Journey®. 

● While Aperam has ample liquidity, we further strengthened our liquidity profile by closing an additional               
bank credit line for a total commitment of € 100 million valid until the end of June 2021. 

● The start of the share buy back program has been deferred by 6 months to assess the severity and                   
duration of the economic contraction, while the announced dividends (EUR 1.75 per share, stable              
year on year) have been confirmed. 
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In addition to these measures, we continue to improve our operational excellence, and at the end of June                  
2020 we achieved accumulated annualized gains of €171million at EBITDA level as part of Phase 3 of our                  
Leadership Journey®. Under this phase we target an annualized EBITDA contribution of €200 million              
between 2018 to 2020. I am also pleased to inform you that the deployment of digital solutions within Aperam                   
as part of the Leadership Journey® has contributed to a quick adaptation to the pandemic and we are well on                    
track to achieve our objective. 
 
Turning to the environment, this pandemic has accelerated the need for a greener economy and responsible                
products. We believe that Aperam is well-positioned to thrive in a world where decarbonisation and               
sustainability are given this increasing importance. Not only are our products endlessly recyclable, we also               
are the world’s lowest CO2 stainless steel producer thanks to our European production route based on fully                 
recyclable stainless steel scrap, and our Brazilian operations using renewable charcoal produced from our              
own FSC®-certified eucalyptus forests. An example of our engagement towards sustainable products is our              
stainless steel anemometric tower solution recently awarded by the ISSF in the category “best development”.               
We believe that as part of our corporate responsibility, we still need to go beyond and are targeting carbon                   
neutrality by 2050, and have ambitious 2030 environmental objectives. 
 
While as a Company we take all measures to weather this crisis by protecting the health and well being of our                     
employees, and to improve our resilience we are concerned by the level of imports and in particular from                  
countries with less advanced sustainability standards. Also, despite three revisions of the safeguard             
measures in Europe, we are disappointed that the safeguard quotas have not been adjusted to the                
considerably reduced demand. We urge the European Commission to take appropriate measures in restoring              
a fair level playing field, and ensure that countervailing duties are imposed promptly to neutralize the effect of                  
subsidies that benefit certain Asian imports. In Brazil, authorities recently confirmed that the anti dumping               
duties for Non Grain Oriented Electrical Steel originated from China, South Korea, Taiwan and Germany will                
remain in place for the next 4 years. Aperam will continue to monitor the situation in Brazil closely to ensure a                     
protection against unfair trade as deemed necessary. 
 
Looking ahead, we will continue to protect the health and well being of our employees while delivering the                  
best added value products and unique services to our customers. While this pandemic outbreak is               
unprecedented, I remain confident that we will master this crisis thanks to our resilience, our ESG excellence                 2

and our ability to adapt swiftly to changes in market conditions. 
 
 
 
 
Timoteo Di Maulo 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

  

2 Environmental-Social-Governance 
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Glossary 
 
This Interim Financial Report includes Alternative Performance Measures (APM), which are non-GAAP financial             
measures. Aperam believes these APMs are needed to enhance the understanding of its financial position and to                 
provide additional information to investors and management with respect to the Company’s financial performance,              
capital structure and credit assessment. The definition of these APMs are the same since the creation of the                  
Company. These non-GAAP financial measures should be read in conjunction with, and not as an alternative to,                 
Aperam’s financial information prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).            
Such non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies. These                
APMs are detailed in the section “Operational Review”, found later in the Report.  
 
Financial Measures: 

> “adjusted EBITDA” is defined as operating income3 before depreciation, amortization and impairment             
expenses and exceptional items 
> “EBITDA” is defined as operating income  before depreciation3, amortisation3 and impairment expenses3 3

> “exceptional items” consists of (i) inventory write-downs equal to or exceeding 10% of total related                
inventories values before write-down at the considered quarter end (ii) restructuring (charges)/gains equal             
to or exceeding €10 million for the considered quarter, (iii) capital (loss)/gain on asset disposals equal to or                  
exceeding €10 million for the considered quarter or (iv) other non-recurring items equal to or exceeding                
€10 million for the considered quarter 
> “free cash flow before dividend and share buy-back” is defined as net cash provided by operating                 
activities3  less net cash used in investing activities3 
> “gearing” is defined as net financial debt divided by equity3 
> “net financial debt” or “NFD” refers to long-term debt3 plus short-term debt3, less cash and cash                 
equivalents3 (including short-term investments)1 

 
Other terms used in this Interim Report:  

> “annealing” refers to the process of heating cold steel to make it more suitable for bending and shaping                   
and to prevent breaking and cracking 
> “carbon steel scrap” refers to recycled carbon steel that is re-melted and recast into new steel 
> “cold rolling” refers to the forming method employed after hot rolling 
> “downstream” refers to finishing operations. For example, in the case of flat products, the downstream                
would be the operations after the production of hot-rolled coil 
> “IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted in the European Union 
> “Lost Time Injury Frequency rate” (LTIF) is a key metric that measures the time lost due to injuries per                    
1,000,000 worked hours 
> “pickling” refers to the process where steel coils are cleaned using chemical baths to remove impurities,                 
such as rust, dirt and oil 
> “production capacity” refers to the annual production capacity of plant and equipment based on existing                
technical parameters as estimated by management 
> “R$” or “BRL” are Brazilian Real and are converted into € using the closing exchange rate of €1=                   
R$6.1539 as of June 30, 2020 
> “sales” include shipping and handling fees and costs billed to a customer in a sales transaction 
> “significant shareholder” means trusts (HSBC Trust (C.I.) Limited, as trustee) of which Mr. Lakshmi N.                
Mittal, Ms. Usha Mittal and their children are the beneficiaries, holding Aperam shares through Value               
Holdings II Sàrl, a limited liability company organised under the laws of Luxembourg ("Value Holdings II") 
> “spin-off” refers to the transfer of the assets comprising ArcelorMittal’s stainless and specialty steels               
businesses from its carbon steel and mining businesses to the Company, and the pro rata allocation of the                  
ordinary shares of the Company to ArcelorMittal shareholders 
> “steckel mill” refers to reversing steel sheet reduction mills with heated coil boxes at each end where                  
steel sheet or plate is sent through the rolls of the reversing mill and then coiled at the end of the mill,                      
reheated in the coil box and sent back through the steckel stands and recoiled 
> “tonnes” refers to metric tonnes and are used in measurements involving stainless and specialty steel                
products (a metric tonne is equal to 1,000 kilograms or 2,204.62 pounds) 
> “U.S.$” or “USD” are U.S. dollars and are converted into € using the closing exchange rate of €1=                   
U.S.$1.1198 as of June 30, 2020 
> “upstream” refers to operations that precede downstream steel-making, such as coke, sinter, blast              
furnaces, electric arc furnaces, casters and hot rolling/steckel mills. 

 
 
 

3 Those measures are derived directly from the financial statements (see Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements). 
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Business Overview 
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with Aperam’s consolidated             
financial statements and the related notes as of and for the year ending December 31, 2019, which can                  
be found in Aperam’s 2019 Annual Report, along with the unaudited condensed consolidated financial              
statements as of and for the six months ending June 30, 2020, which are included in this report. 

History of Aperam 
 
On December 7, 2010, the Board of Directors of Aperam and the Board of Directors of ArcelorMittal approved                  
a proposal to its shareholders to spin-off ArcelorMittal’s stainless and specialty steel businesses. The              
objective of establishing an independent company was to enable the stainless and specialty steel businesses               
to benefit from better market visibility by pursuing a growth strategy focused on emerging markets and                
specialty products, including electrical steel. On January 25, 2011, at an extraordinary general meeting, the              
shareholders of ArcelorMittal voted to approve the spin-off proposal.  
 
Our key competitive strengths 
 
We believe that our key strengths include: 

Our commitment to a safe and healthy workplace and the embedding of sustainability into our               
business model  

The health and safety of all the people who work for and with Aperam is our top priority. In the context of the                       
coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak, Aperam decided in coordination with its social partners to temporarily             
pause production at some of its manufacturing lines to implement all necessary actions to protect its                
employees and contractors. These measures were taken in line with global guidelines issued by the World                
Health Organization and national governments, and are continued to be monitored and adapted where              
required. During the same time homeworking has been maximised wherever possible.  
 
To monitor our health and safety performance, the Company uses the "Lost Time Injury Frequency rate"                
(LTIF) indicator, a key metric that measures the time lost due to injuries per 1,000,000 worked hours. In the                   
first half of 2020, our LTIF rate was 1.3x in the first half of 2020, compared to 1.7x in 2019. 
  
Furthermore, with respect to the other social objectives of our sustainability roadmap, we continue to work on                 
programmes to support the health and wellbeing of our employees and their development. For example, we                
offer training and career development programmes and promote a team spirit to foster motivated and agile                
teams ready to develop and innovate for Aperam. 
 
From an environmental perspective, Aperam is the world’s lowest CO2 footprint stainless steel producer              
(scope 1 and 2) thanks to its European production route based on fully recyclable stainless steel scrap, and                  
the use of charcoal from its own sustainable cultivated forests in Brazil. In 2019, Aperam’s average carbon                 
footprint was 0.48 tons of CO2 per ton of slabs. 
 
In December 2019, Aperam announced targets to significantly reduce its environmental footprint by 2030, and               
its ambition to become carbon neutral in its European operations by 2050. Targeting carbon neutrality by                
2050 for the European operations is a strong signal that we aim to go much beyond our new set of goals for                      
2030 and work towards the objective of the Paris Agreement (COP 21) to keep global warming below 2°C. To                   
achieve carbon neutrality, Aperam is building a strategic roadmap linked to the developments in              
low-emissions steelmaking technologies. The 2030 targets will also be integrated into site-level management             
objectives and Aperam has also implemented an internal price for CO2 which has been applied to all                 
investment appraisals since 2016. For more on our targets and achievements, see section “Environment              
responsibility” of this Annual Report or in our Sustainability reports.  
 
In terms of governance, the third pillar of our Sustainability roadmap, Aperam aims to implement industry best                 
practices. We strive to maintain constant engagement, benevolence and transparency with all our             
stakeholders. With stakeholder groups, such as neighbours and government authorities, we engage openly to              
earn their trust and maintain sound and sustainable local relationships. With our customers, we target the                
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best satisfaction rates and propose innovative solutions.  
 
For further information regarding sustainability and our local country supplements, please refer to our “Made               
for Life” reports available at www.aperam.com under the “Sustainability” section.  
 
A competitive European footprint able to seize market opportunities 

Aperam's modern production facilities allow it to support its customers' stainless and specialty steel              
requirements with a high-level of operational efficiency. 
 
In Europe, the Group benefits from high-quality and cost-efficient plants, including the largest and most recent                
electric arc furnace meltshop (Châtelet, Belgium), the largest hot rolling mill (Châtelet, Belgium), one of the                
largest cold rolling mills (Genk, Belgium) and LC2I, the best-in-class integrated rolling-mill (Isbergues,             
France). In January 2018, we announced a new investment project of €130 million at our Genk (Belgium)                 
plant. This consists of adding a new cold rolling and a new annealing and pickling line that further facilitate the                    
transformation of our business. With these state-of-the-art modern lines, which use the latest technology, we               
can enlarge our product range to include the most demanding applications, improve lead-times and our               
flexibility to meet market demands, increase the efficiency and cost competitiveness of our assets, and               
continuously enhance our health, safety and environmental impact.  
 
To adapt to market conditions, shortly after its creation, Aperam restructured its downstream operations from               
29 to 17 tools in Europe. As a result, Aperam has reached an optimal loading of its most efficient assets and                     
is well positioned in Europe’s core markets. To benefit from the long-term growth potential of the stainless and                  
specialty steel industry, Aperam aims to continue investing in its industrial asset base with Leadership               
Journey® initiatives (described in detail below under the section "A strong focus on self-help measures").  
 
 
A leading and geographically well-positioned stainless and specialty steel producer  

According to the International Stainless Steel Forum (ISSF), the Company is the second largest producer in                
Europe, and a leading stainless and specialty steel producer in South America. Aperam is well-positioned in                
both developed and emerging markets. At the Group level, approximately 75% of Aperam’s sales are derived                
from developed markets and 25% from emerging markets.  
 
Aperam has a strong presence in the European stainless steel market. Not only are the Group's modern                 
production facilities in Belgium and France strategically located close to scrap generating regions, they are               
also close to the Group’s major customers. Aperam’s European industrial operations have consistently             
maintained high performance standards through the optimisation of production volumes, inventory and costs.             
The Group also has a highly integrated and technically advanced service centre and distribution network that                
is effective at maintaining direct contact with end-users through its strong sales and marketing capabilities. 
 
 
Key strengths of Aperam’s European operations 
 

Sourcing  Logistics  Production  

The only integrated upstream 
operations in the heart of Europe, 
with the best access to scrap 
supply 

Best location to serve Europe’s 
biggest consumption areas  

Full range of innovative stainless 
steel products  

Efficient logistics and working 
capital management 

Flexibility and efficient capacity 
 

A strategy to be a cost 
benchmark on key Aperam 
products 
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In South America, Aperam is the only integrated producer of flat stainless and electrical steel. Our integrated                 
production facility is based in Timóteo (Brazil), and produces a wide range of stainless, electrical steel and                 
special carbon products. This production setup is unique, as it allows to switch flexibly between products and                 
markets to maximise profitability.  
 
 

 
 
In Brazil, we also have a strong link to agriculture: our production process is 100% based on charcoal from                   
our own sustainably cultivated eucalyptus forests, which is unique in the world and gives us one of the best                   
carbon footprint globally. In Brazil, about 1,000 of our employees are employed in seedling nursing and                
planting eucalyptus trees. Our forest management is based upon the best practices, recognized by the Forest                
Stewardship Council’s (FSC®) certification, which standards and principles conciliate ecological protection           
(flora and fauna, but also water reserves) with social benefits and economic feasibility. As an example of our                  
responsible forest management, we use the most ecological and advanced technologies to preserve our              
forests from diseases and fire. Beyond our environmental responsibility in Brazil, we are very proud to be                 
recognised since our creation as one the best companies to work for in Brazil in the steel industry. Thanks to                    
our own Foundation in Brazil we are also very much engaged in educational, cultural, environmental and                
social aspects of  the communities where we operate. 
 
Based on low levels of historical and apparent consumption per capita and a developing market for stainless                 
steel, management foresees a substantial potential for growth in South America. In Brazil, Aperam continues               
to benefit from the actions of the Leadership Journey® and Top Line strategy, while the long-term growth                 
prospects in terms of stainless steel consumption have remained intact.  
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Key strengths of Aperam’s Brazilian operations  
 

Sourcing  Logistics  Production  

The only fully integrated stainless 
steel facility in South America, 
with access to iron ore and 
environmentally friendly charcoal 
produced from our own 
eucalyptus forests  

Efficient logistics with integrated 
service centres 
 

Full range of products, including 
flat stainless steel, electrical steel 
and special carbon 
 

Only stainless steel producer in 
South America with best-in-class 
deliveries to customers 

A flexible production route that 
allows Aperam to maximise its 
product mix 
 

Flexible geographic sales 
capabilities within South America, 
allowing Aperam to optimise its 
geographic exposure 

An improving cost position 
compared to the industry 
benchmark and one that benefits 
from best practice benchmarking 
with European operations 
 

 
 
Value accretion beyond stainless production  

 
Aperam has one of the largest integrated stainless and specialty steel sales, distribution and service networks                
in the world, with a total of 14 Steel Service Centres, 5 transformation facilities and 17 sales offices. This                   
network, along with its best-in-class service, allows the Group to develop customer loyalty and a consistent                
and stable customer base, while also capturing additional value in downstream operations. The Group's              
distribution channels are strategically located in areas of high demand and close to many end-users. The                
Group's global distribution network enables it to tailor its products to address specific customer needs,               
thereby facilitating the maintenance of our market share and the capturing of growth opportunities. The               
Group's customer base is well diversified, consisting of a number of blue chip clients.  
 

 
A diversified product offering, including a leading position in specialty alloys, backed by world-class              
research and development capabilities  

 
Aperam offers a wide range of products, including high margin value-added niche products to a diversified                
customer base in both emerging and developed markets. It is this diverse product offering, sold to a wide                  
range of customers across numerous industries, that allows the Group to enjoy greater stability and to                
mitigate some of the risks and cyclicality inherent in certain markets. 
 
The Group's products are mainly sold to end-users in the automotive, building and construction, catering and                
appliance, energy and chemicals, and transportation industries. Our electrical steel products are primarily sold              
to customers in the electric motors, generators and transformers industries. We are the fourth largest global                
producer of specialty alloys and the largest producer of alloys wire rods and strips, which are sold to                  
customers in the aerospace, automotive, electronics, petrochemical, and oil & gas industries.  
 
In addition, Aperam's leading position in specialty alloys, which is a particularly high margin value added                
niche, helps the Group maintain and improve its margins and profitability.  
 
Aperam's research and development activities are closely aligned with our strategy and focus on product and                
process development. The Group's Research and Development team comprises 135 employees spread            
across two centres in Europe (Isbergues and Imphy, France) and one centre in Timóteo, Brazil. These                
centres interact closely with the Group's operating segments and partner with industrial end-users and              
leading research organisations to remain at the forefront of product development. Our research and              
development capabilities have contributed to both the Group's position as an industry leader and its               
development of long standing and recognisable brands. Aperam concentrates a significant portion of its              
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research and development budget on high margin, value-added niche products, such as specialty alloys, and               
on developing products with enhanced capabilities for new applications and end markets. 
 
One of the trends highlighted by our customer surveys, and being increasingly important in the current                
COVID-19 pandemic environment, is a strong demand for sustainability. As our customers look to lower their                
carbon footprint, Aperam is answering with new products, new innovations and new certifications. Some of               
our most recent innovations are highlighted below: 
 

 

 
ENDUR combines the mechanical strength of high strength steels         
with the corrosion resistance of stainless. This innovative alloy         
enables the production of lighter equipment and boasts a         
significantly longer lifespan than other ultra-high strength steels.  

 

Electrical steel is behind the Sirius Project, the world’s second          
particle accelerator and the largest, most complex scientific        
infrastructure ever built in Brazil. Needing a material that could          
support a highly magnetic product, Aperam’s E233 electric steel         
was the natural choice for the project. That’s because E233’s high           
electrical permeability results in low magnetic losses – an         
essential characteristic to the accelerator’s functioning. E233       
electric steel is also commonly used in wind turbines. 
 

 

 

The automotive sector is undergoing a major transformation. New         
technologies, new regulations, and new expectations have       
resulted in a new generation of vehicles – a generation that           
demands new material solutions to reduce weight, improve safety,         
cut emissions, and lower costs. To meet this demand, Aperam has           
launched MaX, a new grade of Advanced High Strength Stainless          
Steel for body-in-white, chassis, and battery pack applications. 

 

 
 
Concrete mixers suffer from the combined effect of abrasion and          
corrosion. Made from Aperam’s steel, the new ultralight stainless         
steel mixers are 2.4 tonnes lighter than traditional models and          
allow for more transportation. These new mixers also significantly         
reduce gasoline consumption and carbon emissions. 

 

Aperam IMPHY alloys are the material of choice for biomass and           
gasification. To meet the emission levels set by the Paris          
Agreement on climate change, many countries are looking to         
produce energy through renewable resources like biomass. But        
producing biomass requires a material that can resist high         
temperatures, pressures, and corrosion. That material is Aperam        
IMPHY 693 & 625. 
 

 
 
Robust profitability, efficient cash flow management and a solid financial and funding structure  

 
The Group's profitability is supported by its implementation of the Leadership Journey®. The Leadership              
Journey® is an initiative aimed at achieving management gains, fixed and variable cost reductions, and               
increased productivity over the near- and medium-term by enhancing the potential of our best performing               
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assets. The Leadership Journey® is composed of a number of phases that can be broadly characterised as                 
restructuring and cost cutting projects, upgrading best performing assets and transformation initiatives. Under             
Phase 3 of the Leadership Journey® - the Transformation Programme - the Company targets annualized               
gains of €200 million by the end of 2020. Related planned capex spend for this Phase 3 amounts to €100                    
million.  
 
Phase 3 of the Leadership Journey® had accumulated annualized gains of €171 million to EBITDA at the end                  
of June 2020. 

 
The Group has also generated positive free cash flows over the past eight years. As of June 30, 2020, the                    
Group had a net financial debt of €123 million, representing a gearing of 6% compared to a net financial debt                    
of €799 million at the end of December 2010, representing a gearing of 29%.  
 
As of June 30, 2020, the Group had a solid funding structure and debt maturity profile as described in greater                    
detail in the “Liquidity” section. 

 
These achievements are the result of Aperam’s strategic priorities which are available in section below “A                
strong focus on self-help measures”. 

 
A talented, dynamic Leadership Team and motivated workforce  

 
Aperam benefits from the experience and industry know-how of its Leadership Team. The team comprises               
ten members, including the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Mr. Timoteo Di Maulo. Mr. Di Maulo has more than                  
30 years of experience in the stainless steel industry, having held a number of positions in the controlling,                  
purchasing, logistics and commercial areas, along with having been CEO of different units within the Group.  
 
Mr. Di Maulo is supported by the other members of the Group's Leadership Team team. This includes the                  
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Mr. Sudhakar Sivaji, who has close to 20 years of experience in finance and                  
transformation projects, and spent the last 12 years in the steel industry.  
 
The other members of the Leadership Team are Mrs. Vanisha Mittal Bhatia, Chief Strategy Officer; Mr.                
Nicolas Changeur, Chief Marketing Officer; Mr. Bernard Hallemans, Chief Operating Officer Stainless &             
Electrical Steel Europe; Mrs. Ines Kolmsee, Chief Executive Officer Services & Solutions; Mr. Frederico Ayres               
Lima, Chief Operating Officer Stainless & Electrical Steel South America; Mr. Bert Lyssens, Head of               
Sustainability, Human Resources and Communications; Mr. Frédéric Mattei, Chief Executive Officer Alloys &             
Specialties, and Mr. Geert Verbeek, Chief Technology Officer. 
 
The collective industry knowledge and leadership of Aperam's Leadership Team, along with their record of               
accomplishment in responding to challenging economic conditions, are key assets to Aperam's business.  
 
The Group has also introduced various initiatives to further strengthen the dedication and motivation of its                
workforce, including development programmes, employee annual appraisals, career committee meetings to           
evaluate opportunities for managers, and performance-based bonuses. Greater accountability improves          
motivation, and the Group's approach to human resources has contributed to the dedication and engagement               
of its workforce. 
 
 
 
  

12 
 



Interim Financial Report 2020 
 

A strong focus on self-help measures 
 

From the very start, Aperam has always pursued a strategy designed to reinforce our market robustness. We                 
accomplish this by leveraging our in-house internal improvement measures and by relying on our own               
resources. This has proven to be a successful strategy, one that supports our performance by reducing our                 
reliance on external factors/resources.  
 
As our key strategic priorities have proven their efficiency in terms of operating and financial performance                
over the past years, we remain focused on:   
 

1. Achieving the next structural profitability improvement based on Phase 3 of the Leadership Journey® - 
the Transformation Programme  

2. Driving value through our Top Line strategy by strengthening our product and service differentiation 

 
 

1. Achieving the next structural profitability improvement based on Phase 3 of the Leadership              
Journey® - the Transformation Programme 

The Leadership Journey® is an initiative aimed at achieving management gains, fixed and variable cost               
reductions, and increased productivity over the near and medium-term by enhancing the potential of our best                
performing assets. The Leadership Journey® is composed of a number of phases that can be broadly                
characterised as restructuring and cost cutting projects, upgrading best performing assets, and transformation             
initiatives. Each phase is described below: 
 
The Leadership Journey® initiatives by phase and total target gains: 
 

Phase 1: 2011-2013 
Restructuring & cost cutting 

 
 

Completed 

Phase 2: 2014-2017 
Upgrading best performing assets 

 
 

Completed 

Phase 3: 2018-2020 
Transforming the Company 

 
 

Ongoing* 

Launched at the early stages of 
the programme in 2011, the 
restructuring initiatives focused 
on the closure of non-competitive 
capacities and the reduction of 
fixed costs through, in particular, 
process simplification and major 
cost cutting investments. 

Since the beginning of 2014, 
major projects were launched to 
help Aperam overcome 
bottlenecks in its downstream 
operations, improve its cost 
competitiveness and enhance its 
product portfolio. 
 
 

Launched in 2017, this new 
phase of the journey aims to 
transform the business and 
address the next generation 
needs of our customers by 
creating a modern, 
fully-connected and 
technology-enabled organisation. 
This was extended in early 2019 
to consider cost reductions, 
including general procurement 
and raw material savings. 

Total gains reached under Phase 2 and Phase 3: 
U.S.$573 million 

Total target gains Phase 3: 
€200 million 

 

 
 

* As of June 30, 2020, accumulated gains 
reached €171 million  
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Under Phase 3 of the Leadership Journey® - the Transformation Programme - the Company aims to achieve                 
an annualized additional EBITDA contribution of €200 million between 2018 to 2020 . During this phase, the                4

Company wants to further transform the business to improve our production costs, as well as accelerating our                 
adoption of the latest technological breakthroughs, automation and digitisation needed to create a             
fully-connected organisation ready to address the next generation needs of our customers. This includes the               
transfer of the Company’s German service centre from Duisburg to Haan, enabling Aperam to further improve                
its supply chain, reduce working capital and decrease costs while continuously improving the health and               
safety of those who work for us.  
 
As of June 30, 2020, Phase 3 of the Leadership Journey® reached €171 million of accumulated annualized                 
gains with good progress on all pillars, which are described in greater detail below. 
 
The key pillars of Phase 3 of the Leadership Journey® are:  
 

New technologies 
Accelerate productivity gains by implementing the latest technology 
and breakthroughs in automation, including the use of robotics, 
sensors and integrated production lines 

Innovation Development of new applications and solutions 

Leaner 

Realise the full potential of being a digitised, connected and 
collaborative organisation 
 
Promote data acquisition technology along the production route 

Value-Added Services A one-stop-shop for stainless steel services and supply chain 
transformation 

Procurement General procurement and raw material savings 

 
 
2. Driving value through our Top Line strategy by strengthening our product and service              
differentiation 
 
Our Top Line strategy is based on commercial projects. Its objective is to develop Aperam’s most profitable                 
products, segments, clients and geographical areas and continue to build a quality service offering for our                
customers.  
 
Within the Top Line strategy, a specific focus is allocated to developing innovative products that will allow us                  
to have a strong presence in important niche markets, as well as achieve attractive margins.  
 
More specifically, our Top Line strategy includes:   
> Leveraging our unique stainless steel product portfolio,   
> Driving additional value through the Services & Solutions segment, and 
> Strengthening our leadership position in the Alloys & Specialties segment.  
 
Leveraging our unique stainless steel product portfolio  

We intend to continue to support the development of our wide-range of products, with a focus on high margin                   
value-added niche products. Because of the specialised and innovative nature of these products, we are able                
to earn higher margins as they typically attract higher prices than our commodity-type products. To grow our                 
sales of high margin value added niche products and replace low contribution margin products, we continue                
to focus on developing innovative products through our research and development initiatives, while also              
leveraging our marketing and advertising efforts for wider promotion. This includes accelerating the stainless              
steel consumption in the Brazilian market.  

4 On February 6, 2019, gains to be reached under Phase 3 were extended from €150 million to €200 million to include such additional cost reductions as 
general procurement and raw material savings. The objective of the accelerated Leadership Journey® is to address the challenging market environment by 
further transforming the Company and improving its competitiveness. Related planned capex spent were simultaneously reduced by €50 million to €100 
million. 
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Driving additional value through the Services & Solutions and the Alloys & Specialties segments  

Our industrial footprint in Europe and South America is perfectly complemented by our global service centres                
and sales networks, which are part of our Services & Solutions segment. In a volatile market environment, we                  
believe that the development of the Services & Solutions segment and the provision of better customer                
services are key to achieving financial and operational excellence. Our value-added services include cutting,              
polishing, brushing, forming, welding, pickling, annealing and packaging. We believe that further developing             
the Services & Solutions segment will not only drive additional value creation, it will also allow us to serve our                    
customers more effectively. As part of this strategy, we continue to invest in and strengthen our service                 
centres in Europe, Brazil and other parts of the world.  
 

 
Strengthening our leadership position in the Alloys & Specialties segment  

From our mobile phones to digital cameras, VirtualReality headsets, televisions and tablets – high-definition displays are a part of our 
everyday lives. And behind each of these screens are alloys. INVAR by Aperam is a highly-clean alloy developed specifically for OLED 
technology. It not only provides the controlled expansion properties these fine screens need; INVAR also ensures that the mechanical 

properties of a screen’s back panels are sealed to the display.  
 

The Alloys & Specialties segment focuses on the design, production and transformation of various specialty               
alloys and certain specific stainless steels. These products are intended for high-end applications or to               
address very specific customer requirements across a broad range of industries, including oil and gas,               
aerospace, automotive, electronics, and petrochemical - to name only a few. We believe that the Alloys &                 
Specialties segment has significant growth potential, especially in light of our R&D support and creative               
solutions we offer our customers. As an example, Aperam has recently incorporated together with Tekna               
Plasma Europe, a leading actor in metallic powder manufacturing, a new joint-venture company named              
ImphyTek Powders SAS. It will market Nickel and Specialty Alloy spherical powders for advanced additive               
manufacturing  and metal injection molding technologies. 
 
 
Actions in response to the COVID-19 outbreak 
 
Since the onset of the pandemic we have adapted our operations and way of working to protect the health                   
and well being of our employees which is our first priority. Where possible, our employees have worked                 
remotely from home. Where our facilities continued to operate, we implemented robust processes in              
accordance with recommendations issued by the WHO and national governments to protect our employees              
and stop the spread of this virus. 
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We believe that the strategy we have followed from our early creation onwards to reinforce our market                 
robustness (see above “A strong focus on self-help measures”) has proven to be efficient in the context of this                   
exceptional crisis. However, to face this new environment more actions have been initiated rapidly: 
 

● A maximum of costs are being variabilized, and fixed costs are being reduced in line with volume                 
development. 

● All non-essential, and discretionary expenses have been frozen. 
● Capital expenditures have been reviewed, and we estimate 2020 capex to reach about €100 million               

of which half is for our new Cold Rolling and Annealing and Pickling Line in Genk and projects under                   
our Leadership Journey®. 

● We further strengthened our liquidity profile by closing an additional bank credit line for a total                
commitment of € 100 million valid until the end of June 2021. 

● The start of the share buy back program has been deferred by 6 months to assess the severity and                   
duration of the economic contraction, while the announced dividends (EUR 1.75 per share, stable              
year on year) have been confirmed. 

 
We will continue to closely monitor the development of the difficult business environment, to ensure further                
actions can be taken in response. 
 
 
Summary of principal risks and uncertainties  
The following major factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed in the                
forward-looking statements included throughout this Interim Financial Report. 

● Macro-economic and geopolitical risks indirectly impacting Aperam;  
● The risks of nickel price volatility, raw material price uncertainty, material margin squeeze, over              

dependency of main suppliers and electricity;  
● Litigation risks (product liability, patent infringement, commercial practices, employment,         

employment benefits, taxes, environmental issues, health & safety and occupational disease           
including asbestos exposure/classification);  

● Risks of lack of competitiveness of the workforce costs, of retention and social conflicts; 
● Customer risks in respect to default and credit insurance companies refusing to ensure the risks;  
● Cybersecurity risks; 
● Risk of production equipment breaking down or stoppage; 
● Risk of rising costs and operational difficulty to comply with laws and stakeholders’s expectations              

in terms of environmental protection.  

 
These factors are discussed in more detail in the “Principal risks and uncertainties related to the Company 
and the stainless and specialty steel industry” section of our Annual Report 2019.  

 
e-aperam makes it easy to order #StainlessSteel and much more. It’s even available 24/7! To start taking advantage of all these great 

eCommerce and eServices, be sure to register at www.e-aperam.com   
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Market environment 

 
Our operational results are primarily affected by external factors that impact the stainless and specialty steel                
industry in general and, in particular, stainless and electrical steel pricing, demand for stainless and specialty                
steels, production capacity, trends in raw material, energy prices, and fluctuations in exchange rates. In               
addition to these external factors, our operational results are affected by certain factors specific to Aperam,                
including several initiatives we introduced in response to the challenging economic environment. These             
factors are described in greater detail below. 

Stainless steel pricing 
 
The stainless steel market is a global market. Stainless steel is suitable for transport over long distances, as                  
logistics costs represent a small proportion of overall costs. As a result, prices for commoditised stainless                
steel products evolve similarly across regions. However, in general, stainless steel products are not              
completely fungible due to wide variations in shape, chemical composition, quality, specifications and             
application, availability of local raw material and purchase conditions - all of which impact sales prices.                
Accordingly, there remains a limited market for uniform pricing or exchange trading of certain stainless steel                
products.  
 
Stainless steel is a steel alloy with a minimum of 10.5% chromium content by mass and a combination of                   
alloys that are added to confer certain specific properties depending on the application. The cost of alloys                 
used in stainless steel products varies across products and can fluctuate significantly. Prices of stainless steel                
in Europe and the United States are concluded as either fixed prices or generally variable consisting of two                  
components :  
 

> the "base price", which is negotiated with customers and depends on market supply and demand; and  
> the "alloy surcharge", which is a supplementary charge to the selling price of steel that offsets the                  

purchase price increases in raw materials, such as nickel, chromium or molybdenum, by directly              
passing these increases onto customers. The concept of the "alloy surcharge", which is calculated              
using raw material purchase prices, among which some are quoted on certain accepted exchanges              
like the London Metals Exchange (LME), was introduced in Europe and the United States in response                
to significant volatility in the price of these materials.  

 
Notwithstanding the application of the "alloy surcharge", the Group is still affected by changes in raw material                 
prices. This is particularly true for nickel, which in the last decade experienced some sudden spikes, before                 
coming back to a lower level. In general, when the price of nickel is falling, purchasers delay ordering                  
stainless steel products in order to benefit from expected price decreases. This in turn has the effect of                  
reducing demand in the short term. By contrast, when nickel prices are rising, purchasers tend to acquire                 
larger quantities of stainless steel in order to avoid having to buy at higher prices.  

The graphs below show the price of nickel on the LME and the European transaction price for CR304                  
stainless steel for the period from January 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020:  
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Graph: Nickel price on the LME (in U.S.$/tonne) 

 
 

Graph: Stainless Steel/CR304 2B 2mm Coil Transaction Price/Southern Europe Domestic Delivered (in 
U.S.$/tonne) 

 
 
 

Source:  
Nickel prices have been derived from the LME. Stainless steel/CR304 2B 2mm coil transaction price/Southern European domestic delivered prices have 
been derived from Steel Business Briefing (SBB).  

 

Raw material prices are described in more detail in the “Raw Materials and Energy” section below. 

Electrical steel pricing 

Electrical steel prices of Grain Oriented (GO) steels were impacted globally by the lower demand during the                 
first half of 2020 and international prices decreased over the period, while Non-Grain Oriented (NGO) prices                
remained mostly stable. 
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Demand for stainless and electrical steel and specialty alloys products  

Demand for stainless and electrical steel, which represents approximately 2.5% of the global steel market by                
volume, is affected to a significant degree by trends in the global economy and industrial production.                
Short-term demand is also affected by fluctuations in nickel prices, as discussed in greater detail in the                 
''Stainless Steel Pricing'' section above.  

In 2019, global demand for stainless steel flat products had followed various trends by geographical regions,                
with in particular an 11% increase of apparent consumption in China, along with declining demand in                
developed markets. In the first half of 2020 the Coronavirus pandemic - which started earlier in China - is                   
estimated to have affected all regions with -10% in China, and -21% in Europe year-on-year.  

In 2019, demand for Specialty Alloy products has reached a record level, supported by a strong activity in                  
aerospace, power generation and electric/electronic segments, more than compensating a slowdown in            
automotive and the softening of oil & gas industry after the completion of some major projects. While the first                   
quarter of the year was not significantly impacted by the pandemic outbreak, the market started to decline in                  
Q2 2020, with an estimated decrease in demand of about 20 to 25% for the entire year. 

 
Production and capacity 

 
In 2019, global structural overcapacity increased by 17% for cold rolled stainless steel coils, thus continuing to                 
affect the global stainless steel industry. This pressure increased further in H1 2020 due the COVID-19                
pandemic and the measures enforced to stop it. In the first half of 2020, global cold rolled stainless steel                   
production is estimated to have fallen by 12%, with every country experiencing a decline in output. In the first                   
half of 2020, the global average utilization rate is estimated to have decreased from 76% to 63%, with a                   
resulting increase of +2.8 Mt in overcapacity. Due to the stainless steel consumption drop in all major regions                  
resulting from COVID-19 protracted crisis and demand weakness, coupled with new capacity coming online in               
China and in Indonesia, global utilisation rates are estimated to remain in this range in 2020. Global utilisation                  
rates are expected to remain relatively low until at least 2022, assuming China does not address its                 
overcapacity issue, and there is no recovery in global demand. Domestic producers in Europe are expected to                 
remain under pressure as imports remain at a high level in a contracting market, and further capacity is                  
coming online in 2020 and in particular from Indonesia. 
 
 
Competition 

 
Aperam is a leading flat stainless steel producer in South America, the second largest producer in Europe,                 
and one of the top ten flat stainless steel producers in the world.  

Aperam’s main competitors in Europe are Outokumpu, Acerinox and Thyssenkrupp Acciai Speciali Terni             
S.P.A.  

At a global level, the competitive landscape has transformed over the past years, with Chinese producers                
Tsingshan, TISCO, BaoWu (formerly known as Baosteel) and others now ranking among the 10 largest global                
flat stainless steel producers in the world. 

Safeguard measures in Europe remain mostly ineffective and the situation has not improved in the first half of                  
2020: imports remained at a high level due to oversupply in Asia while demand has contracted in Europe with                   
the exceptional measures enforced to fight the COVID-19 pandemic. This combined effect has put domestic               
producers under further pressure in the first half of 2020 and this situation is expected to persist in the second                    
half of the year. In particular, prices are expected to remain under pressure and unfair trade from Indonesia to                   
persist either directly or indirectly. 
 
In Brazil, 2019 was marked by a phase of low growth in a context of low international prices, import pressure                    
from Indonesia, and higher raw material costs. Market weakness is expected to persist until the remainder of                 
the year 2020 as Brazil is impacted by the pandemic, and import pressure. Based on low levels of historical                   
and apparent consumption per capita and a developing market for stainless steel, management continues to               
foresee a substantial potential for growth in South America. 
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Developments regarding trade measures  

2019 and the first half of 2020 were marked by extensive developments in respect to trade measures, as                  
described in greater detail below. 

European Union 

Summary table of actions against unfair trade
NEW 

 

*Effective quota from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021. Quotas are quarterly from 07/20. There is one global SS Hot Rolled quotas since July 2020 
SS CR: country quotas S. Korea, Taiwan, India, USA, Turkey, Malaysia, Vietnam **could be difference between domestic market price and export price or 
cost based 
 

1.  Safeguard measures on import of steel products 

On February 1, 2019, the European Commission published a regulation imposing definitive safeguard             
measures on the import of steel products, following the 200 day period of the application of the provisional                  
measures. These measures took effect on February 2, 2019, for a period of three years, expiring on July 16,                   
2021. 

Definitive safeguard measures take the form of a tariff-rate quota in order to prevent serious injury, but at the                   
same time preserve traditional trade flows as much as possible. This level of tariff-rate quota is set at the                   
average level of imports over the 2015-2017 period plus 5%. Quotas are to be further adjusted, increasing the                  
level of the free-of-duty quota by 3% after each year, specifically on July 1, 2019 and July 1, 2020. The                    
additional duties to be paid above the quota are 25%. 

A mixed approach has been put in place. A country-specific tariff-rate quota is allocated to countries having a                  
significant supply interest, based on their imports over the last three years. A global tariff-rate quota (the                 
residual quota) based on the average of the remaining imports over the last three years is allocated to all                   
other supplying countries. This residual tariff-rate quota is divided quarterly. Unused quarterly tariff-rate quota              
allocations will be automatically transferred to the next quarter, during the same period. 
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When a supplying country has exhausted its specific tariff-rate quota, it is given access to the residual                 
tariff-rate quota. However, this possibility is only applied during the last quarter of the period. 

Products originating in Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein are not subject to the measures and, according to                
WTO rules, products originating from developing countries below 3% of total imports in the period July 2017 –                  
June 2018 are not subject to the measures. 

Furthermore, in order to comply with bilateral obligations, certain countries with which the European Union               
has signed an Economic Partnership Agreement will also be excluded from the application of this Regulation                
(this includes, for instance, South Africa). 

On May 17, 2019, the European Commission announced the initiation concerning the review of safeguard               
measures applicable to imports of steel products. 

On September 27, 2019, the European Commission published its decision to adopt the adjustments to the                
steel safeguard measures, taking effect as from October 1, 2019. 

With the first review in the summer of last year, the EC introduced a 3% annual increase in tariff-free steel                    
quotas across all product categories, a cut from the original 5% annual increase and reviewed the list of                  
exclusions for developing countries on the basis of statistics of 2018 full year. 

Imports from Indonesia (both stainless steel cold rolled and stainless steel hot rolled products) were included                
in the scope, falling into the residual quota. 

For further details please refer to the following link: 

Link to Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2019/1590 of 26 September 2019 amending Implementing             
Regulation (EU) 2019/159 imposing definitive safeguard measures against imports of certain steel products 

On February 14, 2020, the European Commission announced the initiation concerning the second review of               
safeguard measures applicable to imports of steel products. 

On June 30, 2020, the European Commission published its decision to adopt the adjustments to the steel                 
safeguard measures with an affirmative vote (qualified majority) of 20 Member States, taking effect as from                
July 1, 2020. 

The main adopted adjustments to the existing steel safeguard measures are the following, with the objective                
to better reflect the current situation in the steel sector: 

1)   The 3% liberalization still remains in place. 

2) Quarterly administration of all country-specific quota (but no elimination of unused quarterly quota              
carry-over). 

3)   Adjustment to the access regime to the residual quota in the fourth quarter (i.e. Q2-2021): 

-       Prohibited access: organic coated, wire rod, cold finished bars; 

-      Limited access: stainless plate, merchant bars, rebar, stainless bars, stainless wire rod; 

- Unlimited access: all other categories. However the access to the last-quarter residual quotas is now                
limited to the initially available quota volumes (carried over volumes NOT included). 

4) The list of developing countries excluded from the measures is now updated on the basis of the most                   
recent stable statistical data (2019), but there are no changes for Stainless Steel categories. 

Some relevant changes for stainless steel products need to be underlined: 
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1) For Stainless Steel Cold Rolled Product Category there is a quarterly administration of all country-specific                
quota, with an unlimited access to the last-quarter residual quota; however the access is now limited to the                  
initially available quota volumes (carried over volumes not included). 

2) For Stainless Hot-Rolled Sheets And Strips Product Category, the country quota system has turned into a                 
global Tariff Rate Quota administered on a quarterly basis. 

For further details please refer to the following link:  

Commission implementing Regulation (EU) 2020/894 of 29 June 2020 amending Implementing Regulation            
(EU) 2019/159 imposing definitive safeguard measures against imports of certain steel products 

Anti-dumping measures on cold rolled stainless steel originating in China and Taiwan continued after the               
imposition of provisional safeguard and definitive measures. 

Once the quota is filled, to avoid the imposition of double remedies, the highest level of safeguard or the                   
following anti-dumping duties are to be applied: 
  

Type of products Countries Definitive Anti-dumping duty 
(%) 

Effective from 

Cold Rolled 
Stainless Steel Flat 
Products 

People’s Republic 
of China 

From 24.4% up to 25.3% March 26, 
2015(1) 

Cold Rolled 
Stainless Steel Flat 
Products 

Taiwan 6.8% except Chia Far 0% March 26, 
2015(1) 

Note: 
(1) Entry into force from the day following that of the publication of the provisional measures in the Official Journal of the European Union.                        
The measures have been implemented for a 5-year-period. 

 

2. Anti-dumping proceeding concerning imports of certain hot rolled stainless steel sheets and coils  

On August 12, 2019, the Commission published in the Official Journal the "Notice of initiation of an                 
anti-dumping proceeding concerning imports of certain hot rolled stainless steel sheets and coils originating in               
the People’s Republic of China, Taiwan and Indonesia". 

For further details please refer to the following link:  
 
Notice of initiation of an anti-dumping proceeding concerning imports of certain hot rolled stainless steel               
sheets and coils originating in the People’s Republic of China, Taiwan and Indonesia. 

On April 7, 2020, the Commission implemented the “Regulation (EU) 2020/508, imposing a provisional              
anti-dumping duty on imports of certain hot rolled stainless steel sheets and coils originating in Indonesia, the                 
People’s Republic of China and Taiwan”. 

The Commission concluded, at this stage, that the Union industry suffered material injury within the meaning                
of Article 3(5) of the basic Regulation.  
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Type of products Countries Provisional Anti-dumping duty 
(%) 

Effective 
from 

Hot Rolled 
Stainless Steel Flat 
Products 

People’s Republic 
of China 

From 14.5% up to 18.9% April 8, 2020 

Hot Rolled 
Stainless Steel Flat 
Products 

Taiwan From 6.0% up to 7.5% April 8, 2020 

Hot Rolled 
Stainless Steel Flat 
Products 

Indonesia 17.0% April 8, 2020 

  

For further details please refer to the following link:  

Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2020/508 of 7 April 2020 imposing a provisional anti-dumping             
duty on imports of certain hot rolled stainless steel sheets and coils originating in Indonesia, the People’s                 
Republic of China and Taiwan 

Final decisions by the European Commission of the anti-dumping proceeding are expected to be published by                
October 6, 2020. 

 
3. Anti-subsidy proceeding concerning imports of certain hot rolled stainless steel sheets and coils  

On October 10, 2019, the European Commission published in the Official Journal the "Notice of initiation of an                  
anti-subsidy proceeding concerning imports of certain hot rolled stainless steel sheets and coils originating in               
the People’s Republic of China and Indonesia". 

For further details please refer to the following link: 

Notice of initiation of an anti-subsidy proceeding concerning imports of certain hot rolled stainless steel sheets                
and coils originating in the People’s Republic of China and Indonesia   

On June 18, 2020, Directorate-General of Trade (European Commission) announced through a Note included              
in the Anti-Subsidy file the decision not to impose provisional measures in the AS SSHR case. 

This decision is taken in view of the complexity of the case, the large variety of the alleged subsidy schemes                    
and most probably the COVID-19 pandemic which impedes the normal conduct of the investigation. 

Final decisions by the European Commission of the anti-subsidy proceeding are expected to be published by                
November 7, 2020. 
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4. Timeframe of the anti-dumping and anti-subsidy proceedings 

  

Source: Eurofer 

On January 23, 2020, the European Commission published in the Official Journal the Implementing              
Regulation 2020/104 making imports of certain hot rolled stainless steel sheets and coils originating in the                
People’s Republic of China, Taiwan and Indonesia subject to registration. 

For further details please refer to the following link: 

Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2020/104 of 23 January 2020 making imports of certain hot rolled               
stainless steel sheets and coils originating in the People’s Republic of China, Taiwan and Indonesia subject to                 
registration 

Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2020/105 of 23 January 2020 making imports of certain hot rolled               
stainless steel sheets and coils originating in the People’s Republic of China and Indonesia subject to                
registration 

 

5. WTO challenge against Indonesian restrictions on raw materials 

On November 22, 2019, the EU brought a dispute in the World Trade Organization (WTO) against Indonesian                 
export restrictions for raw materials used in production of stainless steel. 

These restrictions unfairly limit access of international producers to raw materials for steel production, notably               
nickel. 

The EU is also challenging subsidies that encourage use of local content by Indonesian producers and give                 
preference to domestic over imported goods, which goes against WTO rules. 

For further details please refer to the following link: 

Request for Consultations by the European Union 
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*For SS Hot rolled products all country based quotas have been merged into a global               
quota from July 2020 onwards. Before that China, S. Korea, Taiwan, USA had             
country specific quotas; Countries with a SS CR quota: S. Korea, Taiwan, India,             
USA, Turkey, Malaysia, Vietnam ; all other countries if not exempt fall under the              
residual quota 

 
The above graph shows the evolution of stainless steel imports into Europe. Although imports maintained a                
disproportionate market share of close to 30% in 2019 they dropped off significantly during the first half of the                   
year 2020. This is a direct consequence of excessive imports during the second half of the year 2019 where                   
several countries misused the leeway of their annual quotas (that run from July to June of the following year)                   
to ship as much material as quickly as possible to Europe. As a consequence these quotas were exhausted in                   
Q2 2020 thereby limiting imports. Additionally the European Commission found China, Indonesia and Taiwan              
guilty of dumping hot rolled coil products. Anti-dumping duties have been put in place against these countries                 
since early April which substantially curbed imports of these products during Q2 2020. As a consequence the                 
market share of imports dropped from 27% during the first half of the year 2019 to ~23% in the first half of the                       
year 2020. A pending countervailing duties (“CVD”) case against China and Indonesia is expected to be                
concluded in 2020. Although the European Commission decided to make country quotas quarterly to              
straighten out flows of import and prevent a repeat of the H2 2019 experience the company strongly believes                  
the European Commission needs to align quotas with the development of demand in Europe. In the face of                  
the global COVID induced drop in demand current quotas are extremely generous and allow third countries to                 
solve their problem of oversupply by dumping material into the European Union thereby hurting domestic               
employment and crowding out environmentally friendly produced material. We expect unrevised quotas to             
yield increasing import pressure in H2 2020 again. 
 
 
Brazil 

 
Since 2013, Brazil's Trade Defence Department (Decom), an investigative body under the Brazilian Ministry              
of Development, Industry and Foreign Trade, opened anti-dumping investigations against imports from            
several countries (not including Indonesia at the date of this report) for welded austenitic stainless pipes, flat                 
stainless steel products and flat non-grain oriented products, imposing anti-dumping duties for a period of               
five years as described below:  
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Type of products 
 

Import duties status Anti-dumping (“AD”) status 

Stainless Steel Flat Products 
CR 304 and 430, in thicknesses 
between 0.35mm and 4.75mm  

Normal import duties are 14% 
 

AD duties starting October 4, 2013 for 5 years from 
U.S.$236/tonne to U.S.$1,077/tonne for imports.  
 
Renewal investigation launched on October 3,      
2018, during which time AD duties will remain in         
place. 
 
Countries involved are China, Taiwan, South      
Korea, Vietnam, Finland and Germany 
 
Renewed AD duties against China and Taiwan       
starting October 04, 2019 valid for 5 years from         
U.S.$175/tonne to U.S.$629/tonne for China and      
U.S.$93/tonne to U.S.$705/tonne for Taiwan.  

Stainless Steel Welded Tubes  
in thickness between 0.4mm to 
12.70mm 

Normal import duties are 14% 
 

AD duties starting July 29, 2013, for 5 years from          
U.S.$360/tonne up to U.S.$911/tonne.  
Countries involved are China and Taiwan. 
 
Renewal investigation launched on July 16, 2018,       
during which time AD duties will remain in place 
 
AD duties starting June 13, 2018, for 5 years from          
U.S.$367/tonne up to U.S.$888/tonne.  
Countries involved are Malaysia, Thailand and      
Vietnam. 
 
Renewed AD duties against China starting July 24,        
2019 valid for 5 years from U.S.$344/tonne to        
U.S.$405/tonne. 

Electrical steel –  
Non Grain Oriented (NGO) 

Normal import duties are 14% 
 

AD duties starting July 17, 2013, for 5 years from          
U.S.$133/tonne to U.S.$567/tonne.  
Countries involved are China, South Korea and       
Taiwan. 
 
On August 15, 2014, Camex released partially       
NGO AD, giving 45kt of imports in the next 12          
months without AD penalties. 
 
On November 4, 2015, Brazilian authorities decided       
to end the existing quota of imports without AD and          
fixed the AD duties from U.S.$90/tonne to       
U.S.$132.5/tonne.  
 
Renewal investigation launched on July 16, 2018,       
during which time AD duties will remain in place. 
 
An investigation involving Germany was launched      
on May 9, 2018. 
 
AD duties starting July 15, 2019, for 5 years from          
U.S.$90/tonne to U.S.$166.3/tonne. Countries    
involved are China, South Korea, Taiwan and       
Germany. On July 15, 2020, Camex confirmed that        
duties will remain in place for the next 4 years as a            
consequence of the re-evaluation procedure which      
had been launched after the first 12 months. 

Electrical steel –  
Grain Oriented 

Normal import duties are 14% 
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Raw Materials and Energy 
 

Raw Materials 
 

Stainless and specialty steel production requires substantial amounts of raw materials (primarily nickel,             
chromium, molybdenum, stainless and carbon steel scrap, charcoal (biomass) and iron ore). With the              
exception of charcoal, which is produced internally, we are exposed to price uncertainty with respect to each                 
of these raw materials, which we typically purchase under short-term and long-term supply contracts, as well                
as on the spot market.  

 
Prices for these raw materials are strongly correlated with demand for stainless steel and carbon steel and                 
thus tend to fluctuate in response to changes in supply and demand. In addition, since most of the raw                   
materials we use are finite resources, their prices may also fluctuate in response to any perceived scarcity of                  
reserves, along with the development of projects working to replace depleted reserves.  
 
The LME nickel price started 2020 at a level of U.S.$ 14,075 per tonne. However, as of February the rapid                    
spread of the COVID-19 outbreak negatively impacted the global commodity markets and nickel demand              
collapsed. In this context, the LME nickel price dropped significantly to reach a 15 month low of U.S.$ 11,055                   
per tonne at the end of March 2020. In the second quarter, COVID-19 related nickel supply disruptions as well                   
as the fast recovery of the Chinese industrial activity and a gradual easing of lockdown restrictions in key                  
economies resulted in a rebound of many commodity prices, including nickel. The LME nickel price ended the                 
first half of the year at U.S.$ 12,790 per tonne while the LME nickel stocks remained at high level and totalled                     
233,526 tonnes at the end of June compared to 156,378 tonnes at the start of 2020. 
 
The ferrochrome price remained weak in Q1 2020 with the European benchmark price slightly dropping to                
U.S.$ 1.01 per pound of chrome in Q1 2020 (from U.S.$ 1.02 per pound of chrome in Q4 2019) in a balanced                      
market. The Q2 2020 benchmark price was concluded significantly higher at U.S.$ 1.14 per pound of chrome                 
supported by fears of shortages caused by COVID-19 related lockdowns in the main producing countries such                
as South Africa and India. At the end of the first half of the year, the Q3 2020 European benchmark price                     
remained at U.S.$ 1.14 per pound of chrome amid persistent supply disruptions and high electricity costs in                 
South Africa.  
 
Molybdenum prices started the year trading at U.S.$ 20.3 per kilogram in January to peak at U.S.$ 24.03 per                   
kilogram in February 2020 pushed by supply disruptions in China and strong demand. But the global negative                 
macroeconomics and demand drove the molybdenum prices down to U.S.$ 17.2 per kilogram in March 2020,                
their lowest levels since August 2017. Despite some recovery on buying interest in May, the persistent global                 
weak demand negatively impacted the molybdenum prices which were down to U.S.$ 16.26 per kilogram at                
the end of the first half of the year. 
 
Iron ore prices started the year on a bullish trend supported by stockpiling activity in China. The 62% Fe                   
reference price CFR China increased to U.S.$ 96.7 per tonne in January 2020. Despite remaining supply                
concerns, the iron ore prices followed the negative trend of the rest of the metals complex to drop to U.S.$                    
80.5 per tonne in April 2020. But as market activity recovered and supply concerns remained, the iron ore                  
prices bounced back to U.S.$ 99.43 per tonne at the end of June 2020. 

Ferrous scrap prices started 2020 trading at U.S.$ 298.4 per tonne in January. But the negative market                 
sentiment put a downward pressure on the ferrous scrap prices, crashing to U.S.$ 201.13 per tonne in March                  
2020. The easing of the COVID-19 restrictions supported the domestic demand and the ferrous scrap prices                
recovered  to U.S.$ 251.21 per tonne at the end of the first half of 2020. 
 
Energy 

 
With regard to natural gas, the Timóteo production facility in Brazil has a natural gas supply contract with a                   
Brazilian supplier. In Europe, the Group purchased most of its natural gas through a supply contract put in                  
place with ArcelorMittal Energy S.c.a. in 2015. 
 
For electricity, in France, a supply contract was put in place with ArcelorMittal Energy S.c.a. at the beginning                  
of 2016, whereas in Belgium such a contract has been in place since the beginning of 2015. In Brazil,                   
electricity needs are mainly secured through long-term contracts with several suppliers, with balancing             
requirements managed through short-term arrangements.  
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With regard to industrial gases, the Group procures its industrial gas requirements using short- or long-term                
contracts with various suppliers in different geographical regions.  
 
 
 
Impact of exchange rate movements 
 

At the end of 2019, the Euro amounted to 1.1234 U.S. dollar/Euro and 4.5305 Brazilian real/Euro. In the first                   
half of 2020, the Euro depreciated by 0.3% against the U.S. dollar to reach 1.1198 U.S. dollar/Euro. In the first                    
half of 2020, the Euro appreciated by 35.8% against the Brazilian real to reach 6.1539 Brazilian real/Euro.  

Because a substantial portion of Aperam's assets, liabilities, sales and earnings are denominated in              
currencies other than the Euro (its presentation currency), Aperam is exposed to fluctuations in the values of                 
these currencies relative to the Euro. These currency fluctuations, especially the fluctuation of the Euro               
relative to the U.S. dollar and Brazilian real, as well as fluctuations in the currencies of the other countries in                    
which Aperam has significant operations and sales, can have a material impact on the results of operations.                 
To minimise its currency exposure, the Group enters into hedging transactions to lock in a set exchange rate                  
for specific transactions in non-local currencies, in accordance with its management policies.  

 

 

 

 
Aperam Electrical Steel – the material of choice for innovation 

Aperam electrical steel is behind the Sirius Project, the world’s second particle accelerator and the largest, most complex scientific 
infrastructure ever built in Brazil.  
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Operational Review  
 
Aperam reports its operations in three segments: Stainless & Electrical Steel, Services & Solutions, and               
Alloys & Specialties.  
 
The information in this section relates to the six months ending June 30, 2020, and is compared to the six                    
months ending June 30, 2019.  
 
Key Indicators  
 
The key performance indicators that we use to analyse operations are sales, steel shipments, average steel                
selling prices and operating results. Our analysis of liquidity and capital resources is based on operating cash                 
flows.  
 
Sales, steel shipments and average steel selling prices  
The following table provides our sales, steel shipments and average selling prices by operating segment for                
the six months ending June 30, 2020 as compared to the six months ending June 30, 2019: 

 
 Sales for the Six 

Months Ending 
June 30, (1)  

Steel Shipments for 
the Six Months 

Ending June 30, (1) (2) 

Average Steel 
Selling Price for the 
Six Months Ending 

June 30, (1) 

Changes in 

 

Operating 
segment 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 Sales 

Steel 
Shipments 

Average 
Steel 

Selling 
Price 

 
(in millions of Euros) (in thousands of 

tonnes) 
(in Euros/tonne) (%) 

Stainless & 
Electrical Steel(3) 1,459 1,773 790 919 1,785 1,864 (17.7) (14.0) (4.2) 

Services & 
Solutions 

760 973 318 396 2,281 2,341 (21.9) (19.7) (2.5) 

Alloys & Specialties 297 309 18 19 16,311 15,705 (3.9) (5.3) 3.9 

Total (before 
intra-group 
eliminations) 

2,516 3,055 1,126 1,334   (17.6) (15.6)  

Total (after 
intra-group 
eliminations) 

1,867 2,268 814 966 2,231 2,272 (17.7) (15.7) (1.8) 

 

Notes: 
(1) Amounts are shown prior to intra-group eliminations. For additional information, see Note 2 to the condensed consolidated financial statements. 
(2) Stainless & Electrical Steel shipment amounts are shown prior to intersegment shipments of 312 thousand tonnes and 368 thousand tonnes in the six                       

months ending June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
(3) Includes shipments of special carbon steel from the Company’s Timóteo production facility. 
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Sales decreased by 17.7% at €1,867 million, for the six months ending June 30, 2020, due to lower                 
shipments and  lower average steel selling price.  
 
Stainless & Electrical Steel 
Sales in the Stainless & Electrical Steel segment (including intersegment sales) decreased by 17.7%, for the               
six months ending June 30, 2020 compared to the same period previous year primarily due to lower                 
shipment volumes, and decreasing average steel selling price. Steel shipments for this segment (including              
inter segment shipments) decreased by 14.0%, and the average steel selling price for the Stainless &               
Electrical Steel segment decreased by 4.2% for the six months ending June 30, 2020 compared to the same                  
period previous year.  

Sales to external customers in the Stainless & Electrical Steel segment were €841 million for the six months                 
ending June 30, 2020, representing 45.0% of total sales, a decrease of 17.9% as compared to the                 
€1,024 million in sales to external customers for the six months ending June 30, 2019, or 45.1% of total sales. 

 

Services & Solutions 
Sales in the Services & Solutions segment (including intersegment sales) decreased by 21.9% for the six               
months ending June 30, 2020 compared to the same period previous year, primarily due to lower shipment                 
volumes, and a decreasing average steel selling price. Steel shipments for this segment decreased by 19.7%,                
and the average steel selling price for the Services & Solutions segment decreased by 2.5% for the six                 
months ending June 30, 2020 compared to the same period previous year. 

Sales to external customers in the Services & Solutions segment were €730 million for the six months ending                 
June 30, 2020, representing 39.1% of total sales, a decrease of 22.0% as compared to sales of €936 million                  
for the six months ending June 30, 2019, or 41.3% of total sales. 
 

Alloys & Specialties 
Sales in the Alloys & Specialties segment decreased by 3.9% for the six months ending June 30, 2020                 
compared to the same period previous year,primarily due to lower steel shipments, partly compensated by               
higher average selling price. Steel shipments for this segment decreased by 5.3%, and the average steel                
selling price increased by 3.9% for the six months ending June 30, 2020, compared to the same period                  
previous year.  

 
Sales to external customers in the Alloys & Specialties segment were €296million for the six months ending                
June 30, 2020, representing 15.9% of total sales, a decrease of 3.9% as compared to the €308 million in                   
sales to external customers for the six months ending June 30, 2019, or 13.6% of total sales. 
 
 
Operating Income 

The Group’s operating income for the six months ending June 30, 2020, was €48 million, compared to an                  
operating income of €105 million for the six months ending June 30, 2019. This decrease is mainly due to the                    
impact of lower volumes, negative inventory effects and COVID related costs. These were partly offset by the                 
contribution from our Leadership Journey® and Top Line strategy. 

The following table provides our operating income and operating margin for the six months ending June 30,                 
2020, as compared to the six months ending June 30, 2019:  
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 Operating Income  

Six Months Ending June 30, 
Operating Margin  

Six Months Ending June 30, 

2020 2019 2020 2019 

Operating Segment (in millions of Euros) (%) 

Stainless & Electrical Steel 38 71 2.6 4.0 

Services & Solutions 7 26 0.9 2.7 

Alloys & Specialties 16 20 5.4 6.5 

Total(1) 48 105 2.6 4.6 

Note: 
(1) Amounts shown include eliminations of €(13) million and €(12) million for the six months ending June 30, 2020 and 2019 respectively,                     
which includes all operations other than those that are part of the Stainless & Electrical Steel, Services & Solutions and Alloys &                   
Specialties operating segments, together with inter-segment eliminations and/or non-operational items which are not segmented. 

 

Stainless & Electrical Steel 
The operating income for the Stainless & Electrical Steel segment was €38 million for the six months ending                
June 30, 2020, compared to an operating income of €71 million for the six months ending June 30, 2019. The                   
operating result for the Stainless & Electrical Steel segment decreased for the six months ending June 30,                
2020, compared to the six months ending June 30, 2019, mainly due to lower shipments, negative inventory                 
valuation effects and COVID related costs (temporary plant closures and transportation disruptions). Early             
mitigation actions to variabilize a maximum of our costs and reduce fixed costs, as well as positive                 
contributions of our Leadership Journey® and Top Line strategy were not sufficient to offset these.  

 

Services & Solutions 
The operating income for the Services & Solutions segment was €7 million for the six months ending June 30,                 
2020, compared to an operating income of €26 million for the six months ending June 30, 2019. The decline                   
is due to lower volumes, COVID related costs and negative inventory valuation effects, partly offset by                
variabilization measures of our costs and fixed costs reductions, and contributions from our Top Line strategy. 

 

Alloys & Specialties 
The operating income for the Alloys & Specialties segment was €16 million for the six months ending June 30,                 
2020, compared to an operating income of €20 million for the six months ending June 30, 2019. This                 
decrease is due to COVID related costs, lower volumes and negative inventory valuation effects only partly                
offset by variabilization measures of our costs and fixed costs reductions.  
 
 
Financing Costs 

Financing costs include interest income, interest expense, net foreign exchange and derivative results and              
other net financing costs. Financing costs were positive at €2 million for the six months ending June 30, 2020,                   
compared to financing costs of €(20) million for the six months ending June 30, 2019. 

Excluding the foreign exchange and derivative results described below, net interest expense and other              
financing costs for the six months ending June 30, 2020 were positive at €7 million, mainly on account of                  
exceptional interest income of €15 million in Brazil for PIS/Cofins tax credits related to prior periods. This is                  
compared to the net interest expense and other financing costs of €(21) million for the six months ending                 
June 30, 2019 that included an exceptional financial loss of €(16) million related to the early buy-back of                  
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convertible bonds due 2021. Net interest expense and other financing costs for the six months ending June                 
30, 2020 also included €(5) million of cash cost of financing versus €(4) million for the six months ending June                   
30, 2019. Cash cost of financing relates to interests and other expenses related to the service of debt and                   
other financing facilities.  

Realised and unrealised foreign exchange and derivative losses were €(5) million for the six months ending                
June 30, 2020, compared to realised and unrealised foreign exchange and derivative gains of €1 million for                 
the six months ending June 30, 2019. Foreign exchange results primarily relate to the accounting revaluation                
of non-Euro assets, liabilities, sales and earnings. Results on derivatives primarily relate to the financial               
instruments we entered to hedge our exposure to nickel prices, which do not qualify for hedge accounting                 
treatment under IFRS 9.  
 
 
Income Tax 
 
We recorded an income tax benefit of less than €1 million for the six months ending June 30, 2020, compared                   
to an income tax expense of €(3) million for the six months ending June 30, 2019. This decrease in income                   
tax expense for the six months ending June 30, 2020 is primarily due to the lower level of profit before tax for                      
the six months ending June 30, 2020, at €50 million compared to €85 million for the six months ending June                    
30, 2019. 
 
 
Net Income Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 

Our net result was a profit of €50 million for the six months ending June 30, 2020, compared to a profit of €82                      
million for the six months ending June 30, 2019. 

 
Aperam IMPHY alloys are the material of choice for biomass and gasification. To meet the emission levels set by the ParisAgreement on 

climate change, many countries are looking to produce energy through renewable resources like biomass. But producing biomass 
requires a material that can resist high temperatures, pressures, and corrosion. That material is Aperam IMPHY 693 & 625. 
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Alternative Performance Measures 
 
This Interim Financial Report includes Alternative Performance Measures (APM), which are non-GAAP            
financial measures. Aperam believes that these APMs are relevant to enhance the understanding of its               
financial position and provides additional information to investors and management with respect to the              
Company’s financial performance, capital structure and credit assessment. The definitions of these APMs are              
the same since the creation of the Company. These non-GAAP financial measures should be read in                
conjunction with, and not as an alternative for, Aperam’s financial information prepared in accordance with               
IFRS. Such non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures applied by other               
companies. 
 
 
EBITDA 

EBITDA is defined as operating income before depreciation, amortisation and impairment expenses. The             
following table presents a reconciliation of EBITDA to operating income: 
 

 
(in millions of Euros) 
 

Six months  ending June 30, 
2020 

Stainless & 
Electrical 

Steel 
Services & 

Solutions 
Alloys & 

Specialties 
Others / 

Eliminations(1) Total 
Operating income (loss) 38 7 16 (13) 48 
Depreciation and Impairment (58) (7) (4) (2) (71) 
EBITDA  96 14 20 (11) 119 

 
 
(in millions of Euros) 
 

Six months  ending June 30, 
2019 

Stainless & 
Electrical 

Steel 
Services & 

Solutions 
Alloys & 

Specialties 
Others / 

Eliminations(1) Total 
Operating income (loss) 71 26 20 (12) 105 
Depreciation and Impairment (60) (6) (4) (1) (71) 
EBITDA  131 32 24 (11) 176 

 
 
Note: 
(1) Others/Eliminations includes all other operations than mentioned above, together with inter-segment elimination, and/or              
non-operational items that are not segmented.  
 
 
Net Financial Debt and Gearing 
 
Net Financial Debt refers to long-term debt plus short-term debt, less cash and cash equivalents (including                
short-term investments). 
 
Gearing is defined as Net Financial Debt divided by Equity.  
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The following table presents a reconciliation of Net Financial Debt and Gearing with amounts disclosed in the                 
consolidated statement of financial position: 
 
 June 30,  December 31, 
(in millions of Euros) 2020  2019 

Long-term debt 368  365 
Short-term debt 18  85 
Cash and cash equivalents (263)  (375) 
Net financial debt 123  75 
Equity 2,105  2,418 
Gearing 6%  3% 
 
 

 

Free cash flow before dividend and share buy-back 
 
Free cash flow before dividend and share buy-back is defined as net cash provided by operating activities                 
less net cash used in investing activities. The following table presents a reconciliation of free cash flow before                  
dividend and share buy-back, with amounts disclosed in the consolidated statement of cash flows: 
 
 Six Months Ending June 30, 
(in millions of Euros) 2020  2019 

Net cash provided by operating activities  120  168 
Net cash used in investing activities (68)  (72) 
Free cash flow before dividend and share buy-back 52  96 
 
 
 
Related Party Transactions 

We are engaged in certain commercial and financial transactions with related parties. Please refer to the                
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the six months ending June 30, 2020, and to Note 22                 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2019, for further details.  
 
 
Liquidity 
 
Liquidity and capital resources 
 
The Group’s principal sources of liquidity are cash generated from its operations and its credit facilities at the                  
corporate level.  

 
Because Aperam S.A. is a holding company, it is dependent on the earnings and cash flows of, and dividends                   
and distributions from, its operating subsidiaries to pay expenses and meet its debt service obligations. 

 
In management’s opinion, the Group’s operations and credit facilities are sufficient to meet the Group’s               
present requirements. 

 
Our cash and cash equivalents amounted to €263 million and €375 million as of June 30, 2020 and                  
December 31, 2019 respectively. 

 
Our total gross debt, which includes long- and short-term debt, was €386 million and €450 million as of June                   
30, 2020, and December 31, 2019, respectively. Net financial debt, defined as long-term debt plus short-term                
debt less cash and cash equivalents (including short-term investments), was €123 million as of June 30,                
2020, compared to a net financial debt of €75 million at December 31, 2019. Gearing, defined as net financial                   
debt divided by total equity, was 6% as of June 30, 2020.  
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As of June 30, 2019, no amount of the revolving credit facility was drawn, leaving a committed credit line of                    
€300 million under the facility (see more details in “Financing” section below).  

In addition, as of June 30, 2020, Aperam had €45 million of debt outstanding at the subsidiary level (including                  
€43 million of finance leases). As of June 30, 2020, the Company had a total liquidity of €663 million,                  
consisting of cash and cash equivalents (including short-term investments) of €263 million and committed              
credit lines of €400 million (revolving credit facilities of €300 million and €100 million). As of December 31,                  
2019, the Company had a total liquidity of €675 million, consisting of cash and cash equivalents (including                 
short term investments) of €375 million and committed credit lines of €300 million (revolving credit facility of                 
€300 million). 

These facilities, which include debt held at the subsidiary level, together with other forms of financing,                
represent an aggregate amount of approximately €0.7 billion, including a borrowing capacity of €400 million.              
In management’s opinion, such a financing arrangement is sufficient for our future requirements. 

Financing 
 
Unsecured revolving credit facility 

 
On June 6, 2017, Aperam entered into a €300 million unsecured revolving credit facility (The Facility) with a                  
group of 10 banks. The Facility is structured as a five-year revolving credit facility with two options of                  
extension by one year each, replacing its U.S.$400 million three-year secured borrowing base facility. It will                
be used for the company's general corporate purposes. On May 22, 2018 and May 23, 2019, the original final                   
maturity date of the Facility was extended by one year, to June 6, 2024.  
 
The Facility charges interest at a rate of EURIBOR (or LIBOR, in the case of an advance denominated in                   
U.S. dollars) plus a margin for the relevant interest period, which may be below one, two, three or six                   
months, or any other period agreed to between the parties. The Facility also charges utilisation fees on the                  
drawn portion of the total facility amount and commitment fees on the undrawn and uncancelled portion of                 
the total facility amount, payable quarterly in arrears. On June 4, 2019, the Company received the consent                 
from all lenders to amend the calculation of the margin to be determined on levels of a Net Leverage Ratio as                     
opposed to the Company’s previous pricing model depending on the Group's most recent corporate rating by                
Standard & Poor's, Moody's, or both. 
 
The Facility contains financial covenants, including: 
 
> a minimum consolidated tangible net worth of €1.25 billion; and 
> a maximum consolidated total debt of 70% of consolidated tangible net worth. 
  
On June 30, 2020, these financial covenants were fully met.  
 
Unsecured short term revolving credit facility 
 
On June 30, 2020, Aperam entered into a €100 million unsecured revolving credit facility (“The Short Term                 
Facility”) arranged with one bank. The Short Term Facility is structured as a one year credit facility and is                   
guaranteed by the Office du Ducroire Luxembourg. It will be used for the company's general corporate                
purposes (excluding acquisitions financing) and the Company’s specific costs or expenses that have or will               
arise in the context of COVID-19 outbreak.  
 
EIB financing 

On June 27, 2016, Aperam and the European Investment Bank (EIB) announced the signing of a financing                 
contract in the amount of €50 million and dedicated to financing a research and development programme over                 
the 2016-2019 period, as well as upgrading two plants located in two cohesion regions in France and Belgium                  
(Isbergues, Hauts-de-France and Châtelet, Hainaut, respectively). This project was funded under the            
Investment Plan for Europe, also known as the "Juncker Plan”. The financing contract, which is senior                
unsecured, was entirely drawn down on October 16, 2018, at a rate of 1.669%, with a final maturity date of                    
October 16, 2028. 
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On February 25, 2019, the Company announced the signature of a financing contract where the EIB will make                  
available to Aperam an amount of €100 million. The purpose of this contract is the financing of ongoing                  
investments in the cold rolling and annealing & pickling lines at Aperam’s Genk plant (Belgium), as well as the                   
Company’s ongoing modernisation programmes in the cohesion regions of Nord-Pas-de-Calais (France) -            
Isbergues plant, and Hainaut (Belgium) - Châtelet plant. The financing contract, which is senior unsecured,               
was entirely drawn down on March 15, 2019, at a rate of 1.307%, with a final maturity date of March 15, 2029. 
 
 
Schuldscheindarlehen  

On September 24, 2019, Aperam successfully priced an inaugural €190 million multi-tranches            
Schuldscheindarlehen (debt instrument governed by the laws of the Federal Republic of Germany) with              
maturities at 4, 5, 6 and 7 years. On the back of a very positive investor perception and significantly                   
oversubscribed orderbook, Aperam was able to upsize the deal volume from the initially announced volume of                
€100 million to ultimately €190 million. Interest rates vary from 1.10% to 1.50%. The company was able to                  
price all tranches at the tight end of the announced spread ranges. Aperam took advantage of the very                  
constructive market to secure attractive conditions and successfully diversify its creditors base. 
 
Commercial paper programme  
 
On July 10, 2018, Aperam received confirmation from Banque de France, as foreseen by art. D.213-2 of                 
“Code monétaire et financier” of the French law, that the conditions as described in the financial                
documentation of its programme of NEU commercial paper for a maximum outstanding amount of €200               
million, fulfill the requirements of law. On June 30, 2020, an amount of €1.5 million was drawn under the                   
Aperam NEU CP programme. 

 
True sales of receivables programme  
 
Following the spin-off, the Group obtained liquidity from the sale of receivables through a true sale of                 
receivables (TSR) programme. As of the end of June 2012, the programme was subsequently split into two                 
programmes under similar terms and conditions to the existing programme. The maximum combined amount              
of the programmes that could be utilised as of the end of June 2020 was €320 million. Through the TSR                    
programme, the Group and certain operating subsidiaries surrender the control, risks and benefits associated              
with the accounts receivable sold, allowing it to record the amount of receivables sold as a sale of financial                   
assets and remove the accounts receivable from its statement of financial position at the time of the sale.  

The total amount of receivables sold under the TSR programme and derecognised in accordance with IFRS 9                
during the six months ending June 30, 2020 and 2019 was €0.66 billion and €0.86 billion respectively.                
Expenses incurred under the TSR programme (reflecting the discount granted to the acquirers of the               
accounts receivable) are recognised in the statement of operations as financing costs and amounted to €(2)                
million and €(2) million for the six months ending June 30, 2020, and 2019 respectively.  
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Financial Policy 
 
Aperam`s financial policy aims to maximize the long-term growth of the Company and the value accretion for                 
its shareholders while maintaining a strong balance sheet. 
 

 

Financial Policy 2020 

Company Sustainability, Upgrade and Transformation 
~€50 million maintenance 
~€15 million Leadership 

Journey® 

Value accretive growth & M&A 
min IRR 15% 

~€35 million capex in Genk 
new CRM & APL 

Dividend 
base dividend, anticipated to progressively increase over time(1)  

Dividend of €1.75 per share 
≙ EUR140m 

Maintain a strong balance sheet consistent with Investment 
Grade ratios 

Target NFD/EBITDA ratio of <1x (through the cycle) 
✓ 

Utilize remaining excess cash in most optimal way 
Share buyback 

up to 
€100 million / 3.8m shares (2) 

 
Notes:  
(1) Base dividend review in the (unlikely) event that NFD/EBITDA exceeds 1x. 
(2) On February 5, 2020, the Company announced a share buyback programme for an aggregate maximum amount of €100 million and                     
a maximum of 3.8 million shares under the authorisation given by the Annual General Meeting of shareholders held in 2019. On April 1,                       
2020, the Company announced that the Board of Directors decided to prudently defer the start of the share buy back program by 6                       
months to assess the severity and duration of the economic contraction linked to the COVID-19, while keeping the announced dividends.                    
Please refer to section “Earnings distribution” below for more details. 
 
Earnings distribution  
 
Dividend 

 
On February 5, 2020, Aperam announced its detailed dividend payment schedule for 2020. The Company               
proposed to maintain its base dividend at €1.75 per share, subject to shareholder approval at the 2020                 
Annual General Meeting.  
 
On May 5, 2020, at the 2020 Annual General Meeting, the shareholders approved a base dividend of €1.75                  
per share. The dividend is being paid in four equal quarterly instalments of €0.4375 (gross) per share. 
 
Dividends are announced in Euro and paid in Euro for shares listed on the European Stock Exchanges                 
(Euronext Amsterdam, Euronext Brussels, Euronext Paris and Luxembourg stock exchange). Dividends are            
paid in U.S. dollars for shares traded in the United States on the over-the-counter market in the form of New                    
York registry shares and converted from Euro to U.S. dollars based on the European Central Bank exchange                 
rate as indicated below. 
 
A Luxembourg withholding tax of 15% is applied on the gross dividend amounts. 
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The detailed dividend schedule for 2020, as announced on February 5, 2020, is as follows: 
 
 

 1st Quarterly 
Payment 
(interim) 

2nd Quarterly 
Payment 

3rd Quarterly 
Payment 

4th Quarterly 
Payment 

Announcement date 26 February 2020 12 May 2020 11 August 2020 09 November 2020 

Ex-Dividend 02 March 2020 15 May 2020 14 August 2020 12 November 2020 

Record date 03 March 2020 18 May 2020 17 August 2020 13 November 2020 

Payment date 26 March 2020 12 June 2020 11 September 2020 09 December 2020 

FX Exchange rate 27 February 2020 13 May 2020 12 August 2020 10 November 2020 

 
 
Share buyback 
 
Corporate authorisations 
 
On May 7, 2019, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders authorised the company to repurchase its own                 
shares in accordance with applicable laws and regulations for a period of five years or until the date of its                    
renewal by a resolution of the general meeting of shareholders if such renewal date is prior to the expiration                   
of the five year period.  
 
Key features of the 2020 share buyback programme  
 

● On February 5, 2020, Aperam announced a share buyback programme under the authorization given              
by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on May 7, 2019 (hereinafter “Programme”). 

 
The key features of the Programme are described below: 

● Purpose of the Programme: cancellation of shares to reduce the share capital 
● Maximum number of shares to be acquired under the Programme: 3.8 million 
● Maximum pecuniary amount allocated to the Programme: €100 million 
● Period of authorisation of the Programme: 8 February 2020 to 30 December 2020 

 
Aperam will appoint an investment services provider to execute the repurchasing of shares in the               
open market during open and closed periods.  
 
The price per share of the shares to be bought under the Programme shall not exceed 110% of the                   
average of the final listing prices of the 30 trading days preceding the three trading days prior to each                   
date of repurchase, in accordance to the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of shareholders               
held on May 7, 2019. 
 
Simultaneously, the Mittal family declared its intention to enter into a shares repurchase agreement              
with Aperam, to sell each trading day on which Aperam has purchased shares under the Programme,                
an equivalent number of shares, at the proportion of the Mittal family’s stake of 40.96% of issued and                  
outstanding shares of Aperam, at the same price as the shares repurchased on the market. The                
effect of the share repurchase agreement is to maintain the Mittal family’s voting rights in Aperam’s                
issued share capital (net of Treasury Shares) at the current level, pursuant to the Programme. 
 

● On April 1, 2020, the Company announced that the Board of Directors decided to prudently defer the                 
start of the Programme by 6 months to assess the severity and duration of the economic contraction                 
linked to the COVID-19, while keeping the announced dividends. As a consequence, as of date of                
this Interim Report, the Company did not repurchase own shares under the Programme. 

 
Disclosure of trading in own shares under Luxembourg Company law 

 
Number of own shares held on June 30, 2020: 3,880,441 or 4.64% of the subscribed capital, representing a                  
nominal value of €116,572,875 and an accounting par value of €20,333,511. These numbers are identical to                
those on December 31, 2019 considering there were no trading in own shares over the period. 
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As of the date of this report, the number of treasury shares is 3,880,441, out of which 3,700,000 shares are                    
intended to be cancelled to reduce the share capital of the Company, in coherence with the objective of the                   
2019 programme. Total numbers of outstanding shares (net of treasury shares) as of 30 June 2020 stood at                  
79,815,839 million shares. 
  

 
Groupe Scolaire Miriam Makéba, Nanterre - France ; Cabinet Toa architectes associés © Frédéric Delangle 

Named after the legendary South African jazz singer and anti-apartheid advocate, the 4,050 square metre building blends in perfectly 
with its surrounding neighbourhood, including the adjacent 113 m high Hauts-de-Seine tower. Capable of accommodating nearly 400 

students and 50 staff, the building also satisfies the city’s commitment to sustainable building. Wanting to use only recyclable materials in 
the school’s design, the architects naturally choose stainless steel – which is 100% recyclable. With a façade clad in Aperam’s 304 grade 

of stainless steel, the building has a unique bright finish (Uginox Rolled-On) that brings a touch of sparkle to the neighbourhood. 
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Sources and Uses of Cash 
The following table presents a summary of our cash flows for the six months ending June 30, 2020, as                   
compared to the six months ending June 30, 2019:  
 

 Summary of Cash Flows 
Six months ending June 30,  

2020 2019 

 (in millions of Euros) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 120 168 

Net cash used in investing activities (68) (72) 

Net cash used in financing activities (141) (106) 

 
    

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Net cash provided by operating activities amounted to €120 million for the six months ending June 30, 2020,                 
compared to €168 million for the six months ending June 30, 2019. The net cash provided by operating                 
activities in the six months ending June 30, 2020 decreased by €48 million compared to the six months                  
ending June 30, 2019, mainly due to lower operating income.  

Net cash used in investing activities 

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to €(68) million for the six months ending June 30, 2020,                 
compared to €(72) million for the six months ending June 30, 2019. The net cash used in investing activities                   
for the six months ending June 30, 2020 was only related to capital expenditures of €(68) million, compared to                   
€(73) million for the six months ending June 30, 2019, partly offset by €1 million of proceeds mainly related to                    
sale of assets in Brazil.  

Net cash used in financing activities 

Net cash used in financing activities was €(141) million for the six months ending June 30, 2020, compared to                   
€(106) million for the six months ending June 30, 2019. Net cash used in financing activities for the six                  
months ending June 30, 2020 was primarily related to repayments of commercial papers of €(67) million,                
€(69) million of dividend payments and €(5) million of lease payments. In comparison, net cash used in                 
financing activities for the six months ending June 30, 2019 was primarily related to the €(194) million of                  
convertible bonds 2021 repurchases, €(93) million of acquisition of treasury shares under the 2019 share               
buyback program, €(72) million of dividend payments and €(4) million of lease payments. This was partly                
offset by €157 million of commercial paper drawings and €100 million new loan from EIB. 

 

Equity 

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent decreased to €2,101 million on June 30, 2020, as                  
compared to €2,414 million on December 31, 2019. This is primarily due to a foreign currency translation                 
difference of €(225) million and dividend declared of €(140) million, which was partly offset by a net income                  
for the period of €50 million.  

 

  

40 
 



Interim Financial Report 2020 
 

Trend Information 

All of the statements in this “Trend Information” section are subject to and qualified by the information set forth                   
under the “Disclaimer - Forward-Looking Statements”. See also “Summary of principal risks and uncertainties”              
above. 

Outlook 

On July 29, 2020, the Company released its second quarter 2020 results, which are available on the                 
Company’s website www.aperam.com under the “Investors” > ”Investors Essentials” > “Earnings” section. As             
part of its prospects, the Company announced that EBITDA in Q3 2020 is expected to remain at a                  
comparable level versus Q2 2020, and that net financial debt is expected to reach its seasonal peak in Q3                   
2020. 
 

Recent Developments 
 
▪ On February 26, 2020, Aperam announced the publication of its Annual Report 2019 (Link). 

 

▪ On March 19, 2020, in the context of the coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak, Aperam announced              
additional actions to protect its employees and contractors.  

 

▪ On April 1, 2020, Aperam announced a prudent deferral of the start of its share buy back program in the                    
context of COVID-19. 

 

▪ On April 3, 2020, Aperam announced the publication of the convening notice (Link) for its Annual General                 
Meeting and Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders, to be held on May 5, 2020 without physical                
presence as permitted by Luxembourg law in context of the COVID-19 outbreak. Arrangements were              
made to provide for the opportunity for shareholders to vote electronically and by proxy voting.  

 

▪ On April 7, 2020, Aperam announced the appointment of Sudhakar Sivaji as the Company's new Chief                
Financial Officer, following the resignation of Sandeep Jalan. Sudhakar Sivaji, 40, is a member of               
Aperam's Leadership Team and CFO of Aperam effective May 6, 2020. 

 

▪ On April 15, April 20, May 6, May 28, and June 2, 2020, Aperam announced shareholding notifications by                  
Société Générale SA for crossing upwards and downwards the 5% voting rights threshold with reference               
to Transparency Law. Please refer to section Corporate Governance for greater details. 

 

▪ On April 30, 2020, Aperam announced the publication of its “made for life” report for 2019, which                 
constitutes Aperam’s sustainability report (Link). 

 

▪ On May 5, 2020, Aperam announced that the Annual and Extraordinary General Meetings of              
Shareholders of Aperam held in Luxembourg on May 5, 2020 approved all resolutions on the agenda by a                  
large majority. 
 

▪ On May 6, 2020, Aperam announced the nomination of Geert Verbeek, as CTO and member of the                 
Leadership Team with responsibilities for Health, Safety & Environment, Industrial Risk & Innovation and              
Purchasing. 
 

▪ On June 30, 2020, Aperam strengthened its liquidity profile by closing an additional bank credit line for a                  
total commitment of EUR 100 million valid until June 30, 2021. In the context of COVID-19 outbreak, this                  
financing contract is guaranteed by the “Office du Ducroire Luxembourg”. 
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Recent Developments in Legal Proceedings 

The Company defends itself in several environmental, labour, tax and other claims. The most significant of                
these are described in Note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements as of and for the year ending                  
December 31, 2019. Changes in contingencies since December 31, 2019, are described in Note 11 to these                 
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.   
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Corporate Governance 
Aperam aims to continuously improve its Corporate Governance and Compliance framework to remain in line               
with the industry’s highest standards. In a global organisation like Aperam, it is of the utmost importance to                  
ensure that all employees are at all times fully aware and aligned with the Corporate Governance and                 
Compliance framework and that a zero tolerance for non-compliant behaviours is achieved. Please refer to               
the “Corporate Governance” section of Aperam’s Annual Report 2019 for a complete overview. Aperam’s              
Annual Report is available at www.aperam.com under the "Investors" > “Investors Essentials” > " Financial             
Reports" section (Link). The purpose of the present section is solely to describe the events and changes                 
affecting Aperam’s corporate governance between December 31, 2019, and June 30, 2020.  
 
Board of Directors and Committees 
 
On April 3, 2020 as part of the convening notice for its Annual General Meeting and Extraordinary General                  
Meeting of shareholders of May 5, 2020, the Company announced that Mr. Romain Bausch, and Mrs. Kathryn                 
Matthews indicated to the Board of Directors their decision to step down from the Board of Directors for                  
personal considerations and in the framework of a board succession planning effective May 5, 2020. Mr.                
Romain Bausch joined the Board of Directors at the creation of Aperam as Lead Independent Director and                 
chaired its Remuneration, Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee. Mrs. Kathryn Matthews also            
joined the Company at the creation of Aperam and was a member of the Remuneration, Nomination and                 
Corporate Governance Committee. The members of the Board of Directors extended their warmest gratitude              
and appreciation for Mr. Bausch’s and Mrs. Matthews’ valuable contributions to the Board since the creation                
of Aperam. 
 
On May 5, 2020, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders approved the re-election of Mr. Joe Greenwell;                 
and the election of Mr. Alain Kinsch, and Dr. Ros Rivaz as Members of the Board of Directors of Aperam for a                      
three year term. Please refer to the biographical information part of the shareholder meeting material               
available at www.aperam.com under the “Investors” > “Equity Investors” > “Shareholders Meetings”, > “5 May               
2020 - General Meetings of Shareholders” (Link). Mr. Alain Kinsch is the Chairman of the Remuneration,                
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and a Member of the Audit and Risk Management              
Committee. Dr. Ros Rivaz is a Member of the Remuneration, Nomination and Corporate Governance              
Committee.  
 
The members of the Board of Directors, as well as their memberships to the Board’s Committees as of issue                   
of this report, are set forth below. 
 
 
Name 

 
Position within the Board 

 
Date joined Board 

Term 
Expires 
 

Mr. Lakshmi N. Mittal Chairman, Non-independent member of 
the Board of Directors 

December 2010 May 2022 

Mrs. Bernadette Baudier (3) Independent member of the Board of 
Directors 

May 2019 May 2022 

Mr. Philippe Darmayan Non-independent member of the Board 
of Directors 

May 2015 May 2021 

Mr. Joseph Greenwell(1) (2) Independent member of the Board of 
Directors 

May 2013 May 2023 

Mr. Alain Kinsch(1) (4) 
 

Independent member of the Board of 
Directors 

May 2020 May 2023 

Mr. Aditya Mittal Non-independent member of the Board 
of Directors 

December 2010 May 2022 

Dr. Ros Rivaz(2) Independent member of the Board of 
Directors 

May 2020 May 2023 

 
Notes: 
Company Secretary: Mr. Laurent Beauloye  
 (1) Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee 
 (2) Member of the Remuneration, Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee 
 (3) Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Management Committee 
 (4) Chairperson of the Remuneration, Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee 
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Leadership Team composition 
 
On April 7, 2020 Aperam announced the appointment of Mr. Sudhakar Sivaji as the Company's new Chief                 
Financial Officer, following the resignation of Sandeep Jalan to pursue other career opportunities outside the               
steel and mining industry. Mr. Sudhakar Sivaji, is a member of Aperam's Leadership Team and CFO of                 
Aperam effective May 6, 2020. On May 6, 2020, Aperam announced the nomination of Geert Verbeek, as                 
CTO and member of the Leadership Team with responsibilities for Health, Safety & Environment, Industrial               
Risk & Innovation and Purchasing. The members of the Leadership Team as of issue of this report, are set                   
forth below: 
 

Name  Position within the Leadership Team 

Mr. Timóteo Di Maulo  Chief Executive Officer; Member of the Leadership Team 

Mr. Sudhakar Sivaji Chief Financial Officer; Member of the Leadership Team 

Mrs. Vanisha Mittal Bhatia Chief Strategy Officer; Member of the Leadership Team 

Mr. Nicolas Changeur Chief Marketing Officer, Member of the Leadership Team 

Mr. Bernard Hallemans Chief Operating Officer Stainless & Electrical Steel Europe; 
Member of the Leadership Team 

Mrs. Ines Kolmsee Chief Executive Officer Services & Solutions; Member of  
the Leadership Team 

Mr. Bert Lyssens  Head of Sustainability, Human Resources and Communications; 
Member of the Leadership Team 

Mr. Frederico Ayres Lima Chief Operating Officer Stainless & Electrical Steel South America; 
Member of the Leadership Team 

Mr. Frédéric Mattei  Chief Executive Officer Alloys & Specialties ; Member of  
the Leadership Team 

Mr. Geert Verbeek Chief Technical Officer; Health & Safety, Environment, Industrial 
Risk, Innovation and Purchasing ; Member of the Leadership Team  

 
Note: 
Secretary to the Leadership Team: Mr. Guillaume Bazetoux, Head of Finance  
 
 
 
Information related to the shares of the Company 
 
Authorisation of grants of share-based incentives 

 
On May 5, 2020, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders authorised the Board of Directors to issue up                  
to 150,000 of the Company’s fully paid-up ordinary shares under the Leadership Team Performance Share               
Unit Plan (hereinafter “LT PSU Plan”). Awards under the LT PSU Plan are subject to the fulfillment of                  
cumulative performance criteria over a three-year period from the date of the PSU grant. The details of the LT                   
PSU Plan are described in the convening notice, as well as in an explanatory presentation available at                 
www.aperam.com under the “Investors” > “Equity Investors” > “Shareholders Meetings”, > “5 May 2020 -               
General Meetings of Shareholders” section (Link). 
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Authorisation for cancellation of shares and reduction of issued share capital 
 
On May 5, 2020, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders approved the proposed resolution to               
allow the Company to cancel all the shares repurchased by the Company and held in treasury under its share                   
buyback program as announced on February 5, 2020, while amending the articles of association, reducing or                
cancelling the relevant reserves in consequence and approving the required delegations. Please refer to              
section “Earnings distribution” of this Interim Management Report for more details regarding the share              
buyback program. 
 
 
Renewal and extension of scope of the authorised share capital of the Company, authorisation to limit or                 
cancel the preferential subscription rights of existing shareholders  
 
The historical flexibility granted to the Board of Directors to issue ordinary shares with the power to limit or                   
cancel the preferential subscription rights of existing shareholders was 10% of the issued share capital. 
 
On May 5, 2020, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders: 
 
▪ resolved to adjust the authorised share capital to EUR 480,868,153, represented by 91,800,042 shares              

without nominal value.  
o This adjustment is to allow the Company to retain the historical flexibility while taking into account                

the Company’s current commitments under its long term incentive plans approved by the general              
shareholders’ meetings which will amount to 440,122 shares (the “LTIP Commitments”), the three             
point seven million (3,700,000) shares to be cancelled under the 2019 share buy back program               
(approved at the shareholders meeting of May 7, 2019), and the up to three point eight million                 
(3,800,000) shares to be cancelled upon completion of the share buy back program 2020              
announced on February 5, 2020  (approved at the shareholders meeting of May 5, 2020). 5

▪ authorised the Board of Directors to allocate subject to performance criteria existing shares or issue new                
shares free of charge, to (i) employees and corporate officers (including directors) of the Company, (ii)                
employees and corporate officers (including directors) of companies of which at least 10% of the capital                
or voting rights is directly or indirectly held by the Company in accordance with article 5.5. of the articles                   
of association of the Company; 

▪ authorised the Board of Directors, during a period of five years starting on the date of the Extraordinary                  
General Meeting of shareholders of May 5, 2020 and ending on the fifth anniversary of the date of                  
publication in the Luxembourg electronic legal gazette (Recueil Electronique des Sociétés et            
Associations) of the minutes of the Extraordinary General Meeting, to issue additional shares in the               
Company within the limit of the authorised share capital; 

▪ authorised the Board of Directors to limit or cancel the preferential subscription rights of existing               
shareholders in the event of any increase in the issued share capital up to and including the authorised                  
share capital; and  

▪ authorised the amendment of articles 5.2. and 5.5 of the articles of association accordingly. 
 
The Company’s amended version of the articles of association is available on www.aperam.com under              
Investors - Corporate Governance (Link). 
 
 
Shareholding notifications with reference to Transparency Law requirements 
 
With reference to the law and Grand-Ducal regulation of January 11, 2008, on transparency requirements for 
issuers of securities (Transparency Law) and to shareholding notifications, such notifications are available in 
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's electronic database OAM on www.bourse.lu and on www.aperam.com 
under the “Investors” > “Corporate Governance” > “Shareholding Structure” section (Link). 
 
  

5 On April 1, 2020, the Company announced that the Board of Directors decided to prudently defer the start of the Programme by 6 
months to assess the severity and duration of the economic contraction linked to the COVID-19. 
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On April 15, April 20, May 6, May 28, and June 2, 2020, Aperam announced shareholding notifications by                  
Société Générale SA for crossing upwards and downwards the 5% voting rights threshold with reference to                
Transparency Law. The following notifications of major holdings were reported by Société Générale SA to               
Aperam: 
 
▪ 5.94% reached on April 8, 2020 
▪ 4.51% reached on April 16, 2020 
▪ 5.03% reached on April 29, 2020 
▪ 4.60% reached on April 30, 2020 
▪ 5.22% reached on May 25, 2020 
▪ 4.52% reached on May 27, 2020 
 
 
Designated person notifications with reference to Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 of the European Parliament 
and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on market abuse (Market Abuse Regulations) 
 
With reference to Article 19(3) of Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council                  
of 16 April 2014 on market abuse (Market Abuse Regulations) and to notifications of share transaction by                 
Designated Persons (i.e. Directors or Executive Officers), such notifications are available in the Luxembourg              
Stock Exchange’s electronic database OAM on www.bourse.lu and on www.aperam.com under “Investors” >             
“Corporate Governance” > “Share Transactions by Management” section (Link). 
 
▪ On June 9, 2020, Aperam announced a Designated Persons notification. 
 

 
 

Le Berlingot - Office building, Nantes - France, dl-a, designlab-architecture sa © Patrik André  
Stainless Steel used: Aperam 304 with Uginox Top, Bright, Mat and brushed surface finishes 
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Statement of Responsible Persons 
July 28, 2020 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge, that: 
 

1. the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of Aperam presented in this Interim Financial            
Report 2020, prepared in conformity with International Accounting Standard 34, Interim Financial            
Reporting, as adopted in the European Union, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities,                 
financial position, and results of Aperam and the undertakings as of June 30, 2020, and for the six                  
months period then ended included within the consolidation taken as a whole; and 

 
2. the interim management report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the               

business and position of Aperam and the undertakings included within the consolidation taken as a               
whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties they face. 

 
 
 

 
  
 
  

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Philippe Darmayan 

 
  
  
 

Chief Executive Officer 
Timoteo di Maulo 
 

 
 
  

Chief Financial Officer 
Sudhakar Sivaji 
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Aperam 

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations  
(in millions of Euros except share and per share data)  

 
 
 

 Six months ending June 30, 
2020  2019 

    
Sales (Note 2) 
    (including 24 and 36 of sales to related parties in 2020 and 
    2019, respectively) 1,867  2,268 
Cost of sales  
    (including depreciation and impairment of 71 and 71, and  
     purchases from related parties of 61 and 88 for 2020 and  
     2019, respectively) (1,735)  (2,066) 
Gross margin  132  202 
Selling, general and administrative expense (84)  (97) 
Operating income (Note 2) 48  105 
Interest income 1  1 
Interest expense and other net financing costs  1  (21) 
Income before taxes 50  85 
Income tax expense (Note 3)  —  (3) 
Net income 50  82 
    
    
Net income attributable to:    
Equity holders of the parent 50  82 
    
Earnings per common share (in euros):    
Basic 0.63  0.99 
Diluted 0.63  0.99 
    
Weighted average common shares outstanding (in thousands):    
Basic 79,816  82,554 
Diluted 80,218  82,895 

 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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Aperam 
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income/(Loss)  

(in millions of Euros)  
 

  

 
Six months ending 

June 30, 
 2020  2019 
    

Net income 50  82 
    
Items that cannot be recycled to the condensed consolidated statement of 
operations:    
    
Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI:    
     Gain arising during the period, net of tax expense of nil and nil for 2020 and 2019,  
     respectively —  2 
 
Items that can be recycled to the condensed consolidated statement of 
operations:    

    
Cash flow hedges:    
     (Loss) / gain arising during the period, net of tax benefit / (expense) of 5 and (4) for 
     2020 and 2019, respectively (10)  12 

Reclassification adjustments for (gain) / loss included in the statement of operations, 
net of tax expense / (benefit) of (4) and nil for 2020 and 2019, respectively 10  (1) 

Total cash flow hedges —  11 
    

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations, net of tax expense of 
nil and nil for 2020 and 2019, respectively (225)  16 
Total other comprehensive income / (loss) (225)  29 

    
Total other comprehensive income / (loss) attributable to:    
Equity holders of the parent (225)  29 
Total other comprehensive income / (loss)  (225)  29 

    
Net comprehensive income / (loss) (175)  111 
 
Net comprehensive income / (loss) attributable to:    
Equity holders of the parent (175)  111 
Net comprehensive income / (loss) (175)  111 

 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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Aperam 
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  

(in millions of Euros) 
 
 
 
 

  
June 30, 

 2020   
December 31, 

2019 
ASSETS      
Current assets:      
Cash and cash equivalents  263  375 
Trade accounts receivable 226  228 
Inventories (Note 4)  1,044  1,227 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (Note 5) 78  79 
Income tax receivable  3  5 
Total current assets  1,614  1,914 
     
Non-current assets:    
Goodwill and intangible assets  (Note 6) 435  479 
Biological assets  34  51 
Property, plant and equipment  1,490  1,602 
Other investments 4  4 
Deferred tax assets 121  128 
Other assets  58  81 
Total non-current assets 2,142  2,345 
Total assets 3,756  4,259 
    
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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Aperam 
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  

(in millions of Euros) 
 
 

 

  
June 30, 

 2020   
December 31, 

2019 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY   

Current liabilities:   

Short-term debt including current portion of long-term debt (Note 7) 18 85 
Trade accounts payable  608 800 
Short-term provisions  25 23 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 314 233 
Income tax liabilities   8  7 
Total current liabilities  973 1,148 
    
Non-current liabilities:   
Long-term debt, net of current portion (Note 7)  368 365 
Deferred tax liabilities  122 130 
Deferred employee benefits  145 146 
Long-term provisions  35 43 
Other long-term obligations  8 9 
Total non-current liabilities  678 693 
Total liabilities  1,651 1,841 
    
Equity (Note 8):   
Common shares (no par value, 96,216,785 and 96,216,785  
     shares authorised, 83,696,280 and 83,696,280 shares issued  
     and 79,815,839 and 79,815,839 shares outstanding as of June  
     30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively) 438 438 
Treasury shares (3,880,441 and 3,880,441 common shares as of  
    June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively) (117) (117) 

Additional paid-in capital 1,189 1,189 
Retained earnings 1,301 1,389 
Other comprehensive loss (710) (485) 
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent 2,101 2,414 
Non-controlling interests  4 4 
Total equity  2,105 2,418 
Total liabilities and equity  3,756 4,259 

 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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Aperam 
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  

(in millions of Euros, except share data)  
 

      Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)    

  Shares(1) 
Share 
capital 

Treasury 
shares 

Additional 
paid-in 
capital 

Retained  
earnings 

Foreign  
currency  

translation  
adjustments 

Unrealised 
gains (losses) 
on derivative 

financial 
instruments 

Unrealised 
gains 

(losses) on 
equity 

instruments 
at Fair Value 
through OCI 

Recognised 
actuarial gains 

(losses) 

Equity 
attributable 

to the equity 
holders of 
the parent 

Non 
controlling 
interests Total Equity 

Balance at December 
31, 2018 83,557 448 (76) 1,231 1,402 (478) (9) 17   (20) 2,515 4 2,519 

Net income — — — — 82 — — — — 82 — 82 
Other comprehensive 
income — — — — — 16 11 2 — 29 — 29 

Total comprehensive 
income — — — — 82 16 11 2 — 111 — 111 

Recognition of share 
based payments — — — — 1 — — — — 1 — 1 

Purchase of treasury 
shares (3,700) — (93) — — — — — — (93) — (93) 

Dividends — — — — (146) — — — — (146) — (146) 
Call Spread Overlay 
unwinding  (61) — (2) — (3) — — — — (5) — (5) 

Balance at June 30, 
2019 79,796 448  (171) 1,231 1,336 (462) 2 19  (20) 2,383 4 2,387 

 
            

Balance at December 
31, 2019 79,816 438  (117) 1,189 1,389 (463) (2) —  (20) 2,414 4 2,418 

Net income — — — — 50 — — — — 50 — 50 
Other comprehensive 
income / (loss) — — — — — (225) — — — (225) — (225) 

Total comprehensive 
income / (loss)  — — — — 50 (225) — — — (175) — (175) 

Recognition of share 
based payments — — — — 2 — — — — 2 — 2 

Dividends — — — — (140) — — — — (140) — (140) 
Balance at June 30, 
2020 79,816 438  (117) 1,189 1,301 (688) (2) — (20) 2,101 4 2,105 

 
    (1) Number of shares denominated in thousands, excludes treasury shares.  
  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.  
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Aperam 
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  

(in millions of Euros)  
 

 

 
Six months ending June 30, 

2020 2019 
Operating activities:   
Net income 50 82  
   
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operations and 
payments:   
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 71 71 
Net interest expense 4 21 
Income tax expense (Note 3) — 3 
Net write-downs of inventories to net realisable value   9 6 
Unrealised losses on derivative instruments  4 3  
Unrealised foreign exchange effects, other provisions and non-cash operating expenses, 
(net) (6) (19) 
   
Changes in operating working capital:   
Trade accounts receivable (11)    — 
Trade accounts payable  (174) (120) 
Inventories 127 133 
   
Changes in other operating assets, liabilities and provisions:   
Interest paid, (net) (2) (3) 
Income taxes refund (paid) (2) 2 
Other working capital movements and provisions movements  50 (11) 
Net cash provided by operating activities  120 168 
   
Investing activities:   
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment, intangible and biological assets (CAPEX) (68) (73) 
Other investing activities, (net)    — 1 
Net cash used in investing activities  (68) (72) 
   
Financing activities:   
Net payments from short-term debt (67) (37)  
Proceeds from long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs   — 100 
Purchase of treasury shares (Note 8)   — (93) 
Dividends paid (Note 8)   (69) (72) 
Finance lease payments  (5) (4) 
Net cash used in financing activities  (141) (106) 
   
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  (23) — 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (112) (10) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents:    
At the beginning of the period  375 199 
At the end of the period  263 189 
   

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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SUMMARY OF NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
Note 1: Nature of business, basis of presentation and accounting policies 
Note 2: Segment reporting 
Note 3: Income tax 
Note 4: Inventories 
Note 5: Prepaid expenses and other current assets 
Note 6: Goodwill and Intangible assets Impairment testing  
Note 7: Short-term and long-term debt 
Note 8: Equity 
Note 9: Instruments at fair value 
Note 10: Commitments 
Note 11: Contingencies 
Note 12: Subsequent events 
 
 

 
NOTE 1 – NATURE OF BUSINESS, BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

  
Nature of business 

 
Aperam Société Anonyme (“Aperam”) was incorporated in Luxembourg on September 9, 2010, to own certain               
operating subsidiaries of ArcelorMittal Société Anonyme (“ArcelorMittal”) which primarily comprised          
ArcelorMittal’s stainless steel and specialty alloys business. This business was transferred to Aperam prior to               
the distribution of all its outstanding common shares to shareholders of ArcelorMittal on January 26, 2011.                
Collectively, Aperam together with its subsidiaries are referred to in these condensed consolidated financial              
statements as the “Company”. The Company’s shares have been trading on the European stock exchanges               
of Amsterdam, Paris (Euronext) and Luxembourg since January 31, 2011, and Brussels (Euronext) since              
February 16, 2017. 
 

 
Accounting policies 

 
The interim condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2020 have been                
prepared in accordance with IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. The interim condensed consolidated             
financial statements do not include all the information and disclosures required in the annual financial               
statements, and should be read in conjunction with the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements as               
at December 31, 2019. The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the interim condensed               
consolidated financial statements are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual               
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, except for the adoption of new                
standards effective as of January 1, 2020. The Group has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or                 
amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. Several amendments and interpretations apply for                
the first time in 2020, but do not have an impact on the interim condensed consolidated financial statements                  
of the Group.  

Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business The amendment to IFRS 3 clarifies that to be considered a                     
business, an integrated set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive                  
process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create output. Furthermore, it clarified that a                
business can exist without including all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. These                
amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group, but may impact future                
periods should the Group enter into any business combinations.  

Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform The amendments to IFRS 9                   
and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement provide a number of reliefs, which apply to                
all hedging relationships that are directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform. A hedging relationship is                
affected if the reform gives rise to uncertainties about the timing and or amount of benchmark-based cash                 
flows of the hedged item or the hedging instrument. These amendments had no impact on the consolidated                 
financial statements of the Group as it does not have any interest rate hedge relationships.  
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Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material The amendments provide a new definition of material                   
that states “information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to                
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those                 
financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.” The amendments             
clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information, either individually or in                
combination with other information, in the context of the financial statements. A misstatement of information               
is material if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the primary users. These                 
amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of, nor is there expected to be any                 
future impact to the Group.  

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued on 29 March 2018 The Conceptual Framework is not                
a standard, and none of the concepts contained therein override the concepts or requirements in any                
standard. The purpose of the Conceptual Framework is to assist the IASB in developing standards, to help                 
preparers develop consistent accounting policies where there is no applicable standard in place and to assist                
all parties to understand and interpret the standards. The revised Conceptual Framework includes some new               
concepts, provides updated definitions and recognition criteria for assets and liabilities and clarifies some              
important concepts. These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS recognition and measurement principles             
requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues                
and expenses. Management reviews its estimates on an ongoing basis using currently available information.              
Changes in facts and circumstances may result in revised estimates, and actual results could differ from                
those estimates.  

Accounting estimates and management judgements due to the COVID-19 outbreak  

Accounting estimates and management judgements can affect the amounts and reporting of assets and              
liabilities, the reporting of contingent assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date, and the amounts of                  
income and expense reported for the period. Due to the currently unforeseeable global consequences of the                
COVID-19 outbreak, these accounting estimates and management judgements are subject to increased            
uncertainty. Available information on the expected economic developments and country-specific          
governmental countermeasures have been included in these Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.           
Impairment tests for the cash-generating units of the group were also performed and have confirmed the                
correctness of the corresponding carrying amounts (see Note 6). The valuation of the goodwill as at June 30,                  
2020, as disclosed in the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements, reflects the economic conditions in              
existence at that date.  

Collection of trade receivables is also very closely monitored by Management, and we did not see any                 
significant effects on collections as of June closing. While no significant effects were noted so far, the liquidity                  
risk might be increasing in the coming months. Yet since the Company has reasonable net financial debt and                  
all necessary measures have been put in place to maintain this low level of debt, the Company is confident                   
that it has a sufficient level of liquidity through the cash generated from its operations, bank credit lines in                   
place and various working capital credit lines at its operating subsidiaries.The levels of cash, credit lines and                 
debt are closely monitored and appropriate actions are taken in order to manage the maturity profile and                 
currency mix. Committed credit lines are subject to financial covenants calculated on tangible net worth and                
gearing ratio. There is no covenant linked to financial results of the Company. In addition, the Group                 
continues to monitor and review revenue recognition in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 15, in                
particular with respect to the probability of collectability, but no major effects were observed so far.  

As of the date of this report, we have determined there are no material uncertainties that might cast significant                   
doubt upon the Group's or any of our operations' ability to continue as a going concern.  
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NOTE 2 – SEGMENT REPORTING 
  

Aperam reports its operations in three segments: Stainless & Electrical Steel, Services & Solutions and Alloys                
& Specialties.  

 
The following table summarises certain financial data relating to Aperam’s operations in its different              
segments:  

 

(in millions of Euros) 

Stainless & 
Electrical 

Steel 

 
Services & 
Solutions  

Alloys & 
Specialties  

Others / 
Eliminations(1)  Total 

Six months ending June 
30, 2020  

 
       

Sales to external customers 841  730  296  —  1,867 
Intersegment sales(2) 618  30  1  (649)  — 
Operating income (loss) 38  7  16  (13)  48 
Depreciation and Impairment (58)  (7)  (4)  (2)  (71) 
Capital expenditures (63)  (2)  (3)  —  (68) 

          
Six months ending June 
30, 2019  

 
       

Sales to external customers 1,024  936  308  —  2,268 
Intersegment sales(2) 749  37  1  (787)  —  
Operating income (loss) 71  26  20  (12)  105 
Depreciation and Impairment (60)  (6)  (4)  (1)  (71) 
Capital expenditures (55)  (13)  (4)  (1)  (73) 
 
Notes: 
(1) Others / Eliminations includes all other operations than mentioned above, together with inter-segment elimination, and/or 
non-operational items which are not segmented.  
(2) Transactions between segments are conducted on the same basis of accounting as transactions with third parties. 

 

NOTE 3 – INCOME TAX 
  

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is based on an estimated annual effective rate, which                  
requires management to make its best estimate of annual pre-tax income for the year. During the year,                 
management regularly updates its estimates based on changes in various factors such as geographical mix of                
operating profit, prices, shipments, product mix, plant operating performance and cost estimates, including             
labor, raw materials, energy and pension and other postretirement benefits.  

 
Income tax was an expense of nil million and €(3) million for the six months ending June 30, 2020 and 2019,                   
respectively. The decrease in income tax expense for the six months ending June 30, 2020, compared to the                  
six months ending June 30, 2019, is primarily due to the lower level of profit before tax for the six months                     
ending June 30, 2020 at €50 million compared to €85 million for the six months ending June 30, 2019. 
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NOTE 4 – INVENTORIES 
  

Inventories, net of provision for obsolescence, slow-moving inventories and excess of cost over net realisable               
value of €110 million and €116 million as of June 30, 2020, and December 31, 2019, respectively, are                 
comprised of the following:  
 
(in millions of Euros) June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019 

Finished products  373 441 
Production in process  373 447 
Raw materials  175 203 
Manufacturing supplies, spare parts and other  123 136 
Total  1,044 1,227 
 

The amount of write-downs of inventories to net realisable value recognised as an expense was €(9) million                 
and €(6) million during the six months ending June 30, 2020, and 2019, respectively and the expense was                  
reduced by €13 million and €15 million, respectively, due to normal inventory consumption. 

 
The amount of inventories recognised as an expense (due to normal inventory consumption) was €(1,201)               
million and €(1,492) million during the six months ending June 30, 2020, and 2019, respectively. 

 

 

NOTE 5 – PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following: 
 

(in millions of Euros) June 30, 2020  December 31, 2019 

Value added tax (VAT) and other amounts receivable 
from tax authorities 47 44 

Prepaid expenses and accrued receivables 14 9 
Derivative financial assets 5 13 
Other  12 13 
Total  78 79 
 
 

NOTE 6 – GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS IMPAIRMENT TESTING 
 
The Company identified three operating segments. As a result, goodwill acquired in business combinations              
was allocated to these operating segments based on the relative fair values of the operating segments.                
Goodwill is allocated as follows to each of the Company’s operating segments: 

(in millions of Euros) Net value 
December 

31, 2019 

Foreign 
exchange 

differences  

Net value 
June 30, 

2020 
Stainless & Electrical Steel  378 (40) 338 
Alloys & Specialties 20 — 20 
Services & Solutions 59 — 59 
Total (1)  457 (40) 417 
 
Note: 
(1) Total amount of goodwill, doesn’t include intangible assets of €23 million as of December 31, 2019 and €18 million as of June 30, 
2020.  
 
 
Goodwill is tested at the Group of cash-generating unit (“GCGU”) level for impairment annually or whenever                
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changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. Management considered              
the COVID-19 outbreak and the current economic downturn as impairment triggers.and has therefore updated              
as of June 30, 2020 the impairment testing of goodwill performed as of October 31, 2019. The GCGU is at the                     
operating segment level of Aperam, which represents the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for                
internal management purposes. The recoverable amounts of the GCGUs are determined based on their value               
in use. The Company determined to calculate value in use for purposes of its impairment testing and,                 
accordingly, did not determine the fair value of the GCGUs as the carrying value of the GCGUs was lower                   
than their value in use.  
 
The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are primarily the pre-tax discount rates, the terminal                 
growth rate and the expected changes to raw material margin, shipments and added costs during the period.                 
The impairment tests did not result in impairment for any periods presented in these interim consolidated                
financial statements.  
 
The value in use of the GCGUs was determined by estimating cash flows for a period of five years.  
 
Assumptions for raw material margin and shipments were based on historical experience and expectations of               
future changes in the market. Cash flow forecasts for the year 2020 derived from the most recent financial                  
budget approved by the Board of Directors have been modified with the last available financial forecasts                
prepared by Management. Previous cash flow forecasts for the years 2021-2024 have been tested for               
sensitivity with reduction in shipments, cost increases and a protracted recovery. Beyond the specifically              
forecasted period of five years, the Company extrapolated cash flows for the remaining years based on an                 
estimated constant growth rate of 1.5% in Europe and 2% in South America. These rates did not exceed the                   
average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.  
 
For purposes of the impairment testing of goodwill as of June 30, 2020, the Company estimated shipments on                  
the basis of the analysis of the markets where the Company is active in as well as on the basis of projections                      
provided by external sources.  
 
The nickel price estimate for the next 5 years was determined by the management based on internal analysis                  
giving due consideration to forecasts published by external sources.  
 
Management estimated discount rates using pretax rates that reflected current market rates for investments              
of similar risk. The discount rate for the GCGUs was estimated from the weighted average cost of capital of                   
producers which operate a portfolio of assets similar to those of the Company’s assets. 

 

 
Stainless & 

Electrical 
Steel  

Alloys & 
Specialties  

Services & 
Solutions 

GCGU weighted average pre-tax discount rate used as of 
June 30, 2020 8.9% 10.3% 9.3% 

GCGU weighted average pre-tax discount rate used as of 
October 31, 2019 8.6% 8.6% 8.3% 

 
 
Aperam’s WACC is increasing as of June 30, 2020 versus October 31, 2019 mainly due to an increase of the                    
equity risk premium and country risk premium following the COVID-19 outbreak.  
 
The results of the goodwill impairment test as of October 31, 2019 and as of June 30, 2020 for each GCGU                     
did not result in an impairment of goodwill as the value in use exceeded the carrying value of the GCGU.  
 
In validating the value in use determined for the GCGU, key assumptions used in the discounted cash-flow                 
model (such as discount rates, raw material margins, shipments and terminal growth rate) were sensitised to                
test the resilience of value in use.  
 
The analysis did not result in any scenarios whereby a reasonable possible change in the aforementioned key                 
assumptions would result in a recoverable amount for the GCGU which is inferior to the carrying value. 
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NOTE 7 – SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
Short-term debt, including the current portion of long-term debt, consisted of the following:  

 
(in millions of Euros) June 30, 2020  December 31, 2019 

Short-term bank loans and other credit facilities  3 70 
Current portion of long-term debt  6 6 
Lease obligations  9 9 
Total  18 85 
 
 
Unsecured revolving credit facility 
 
On June 6, 2017, Aperam entered into a €300 million unsecured revolving credit facility ("The Facility") with a                  
group of 10 banks. The Facility is structured as a 5-year revolving credit facility with two options of extension                   
by one year each, replacing its U.S.$400 million existing 3-year secured borrowing base facility. It will be used                  
for the company's general corporate purposes. 
 
As of June 30, 2020, no amount was drawn under this facility. The current final maturity date for this facility                    
stands at June 6, 2024.  
 
Unsecured short term revolving credit facility 
 
On June 30, 2020, Aperam entered into a €100 million unsecured revolving credit facility (“The Short Term                 
Facility”) arranged with one bank. The Short Term Facility is structured as a one year credit facility and is                   
guaranteed by the Office du Ducroire Luxembourg. It will be used for the company's general corporate                
purposes (excluding acquisitions financing) and the Company’s specific costs or expenses that have or will               
arise in the context of COVID-19 outbreak.  

Long-term debt is comprised of the following: 

 
(in millions of Euros) Year of 

maturity 
Type of 
Interest Interest rate(1)  

June 30, 
2020  

December 
31, 2019 

EIB loan 1 2028 Fixed 1.669%  50  50 
EIB loan 2 2029 Fixed 1.307%  100  100 
Schuldscheindarlehen 2023-2026 Fixed/Floating 1.10%-1.50%  190  190 
Total      340  340 
Lease obligations   43  40 
Less current portion of long-term debt   (6)  (6) 
Less current portion of lease obligations   (9)  (9) 
Total long-term debt, net of current portion   368  365 

 

Note: 
(1) Rates applicable to balances outstanding at June 30, 2020. 
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NOTE 8 – EQUITY  
  

Share details 
 
The Company’s shares consist of the following: 
 

 December 31, 
2019  Movement of the 

period  June 30, 
 2020 

Issued shares 83,696,280  —  83,696,280 
Treasury shares (3,880,441)  —  (3,880,441) 
Total outstanding shares 79,815,839  —  79,815,839 
 
 
Authorised shares 
 
On May 5, 2020, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders resolved to decrease the authorised               
share capital by €23,123,395, equivalent to 4,416,743 shares. Following this approval, which is valid for five                
years, the total authorised share capital (including its issued share capital) was €480,868,153, represented by               
91,800,042 shares without nominal value. Please refer for greater details to the section Corporate              
Governance of this report. 
 
Treasury shares 
 
On February 5, 2020, Aperam announced a share buyback program of up to €100 million, and a maximum of                   
3.8 million shares under the authorization given by the annual general meeting of shareholders held on May                 
7, 2019. 
 
On April 1, 2020, Aperam announced a prudent deferral of the start of its share buy back program in the                    
context of COVID-19 outbreak. 
 
Aperam held 3,880,441 treasury shares as of June 30, 2020, and also as of  December 31, 2019.  
 
Dividends 
 
On May 5, 2020, at the 2020 Annual General Meeting, the shareholders approved a base dividend of €1.75                  
(gross) per share. The dividend is being paid in four equal quarterly instalments of €0.4375 (gross) per share. 
 
Leadership Team Performance Share Unit Plan, and incentives below the Leadership Team 

  
On May 5, 2020, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders authorised the Board of Directors to issue                 
(during the period between the 2020 and the 2021 Annual General Meetings) up to 150,000 of the Company’s                  
fully paid-up ordinary shares under the Leadership Team Performance Share Unit Plan (the “LT PSU Plan”).                
These shares can be newly issued shares or treasury shares. The Board of Directors may consider                
appropriate rules to implement the LT PSU Plan, including other performance based grants below the level of                 
the Leadership Team.  
 
On June 1, 2020, 81,970 Performance Share Units were awarded to Aperam Leadership Team and 19,836                
performance based grants and 54,060 restricted share units were granted to Aperam Senior Management              
below the level of the Leadership Team.  
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NOTE 9 – INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 

The estimated fair values of certain instruments have been determined using available market information or               
other valuation methodologies that require considerable judgment in interpreting market data and developing             
estimates. 
 
The following table summarises assets and liabilities based on their categories as of June 30, 2020. 
 
     Instruments at fair value 

 
 
 
 

(in millions of Euros) 

Carrying 
amount in 

statements 
of financial 

position 

Non 
financial 
assets 

and 
liabilities 

Loan and 
receivables 

Liabilities at 
amortised 

cost 

Fair value 
recognised 
in profit and 

loss 

Equity 
instruments 
at Fair Value 
through OCI Derivatives

ASSETS        
Current assets:        
Cash and cash equivalents  263 — 263 — — — — 
Trade accounts receivable  226 — 226 — — — — 
Inventories  1,044 1,044 — — — — — 
Prepaid expenses and other current 
assets 78 47 26 — — — 5 

Income tax receivable 3 3 — — — — — 
  Total current assets  1,614 1,094 515 — — — 5 
Non-current assets:        
Goodwill and intangible assets 435 435 — — — — — 
Biological assets 34 — — — 34 — — 
Property, plant and equipment 1,490 1,490 — — — — — 
Other investments       4 — — — — 4 — 
Deferred tax assets 121 121 — — — — — 
Other assets  58 27 31 — — — — 
  Total non-current assets 2,142 2,073 31 — 34 4 — 
  Total assets  3,756 3,167 546 — 34 4 5 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY        
Current liabilities:        
Short-term debt and current portion of 
long-term debt  18 — — 18 — — — 

Trade accounts payable  608 — — 608 — — — 
Short-term provisions 25 25 — — — — — 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 314 57 — 246 — — 11 
Income tax liabilities 8 8 — — — — — 
  Total current liabilities  973 90 — 872 — — 11 
Non-current liabilities:        
Long-term debt, net of current portion  368 — — 368 — — — 
Deferred tax liabilities 122 122 — — — — — 
Deferred employee benefits 145 145 — — — — — 
Long-term provisions 35 35 — — — — — 
Other long-term obligations  8 — — 8 — — — 
  Total non-current liabilities  678 302 — 376 — — — 
Equity:        
Equity attributable to the equity holders 
of the parent 2,101 2,101 — — — — — 

Non-controlling interests  4 4 — — — — — 
  Total equity  2,105 2,105 — — — — — 
  Total liabilities and equity  3,756 2,497 — 1,248 — — 11 
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The following table summarises the bases used to measure assets and liabilities at their fair value. 

 As of June 30, 2020 
(in millions of Euros) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Assets at fair value:     
Biological assets — — 34 34 
Equity instruments at fair value through OCI 2 — 2 4 
Derivative financial current assets — 5 — 5 
Derivative financial non-current assets — — — — 
Total assets at fair value 2 5 36 43 
Liabilities at fair value:     
Derivative financial current liabilities — 11 — 11 
Derivative financial non-current liabilities — — — — 
Total liabilities at fair value — 11 — 11 

 

Equity instruments classified as Level 1 refer to listed securities quoted in active markets. The total fair value                 
is either the price of the most recent trade at the time of the market close or the official close price as defined                       
by the exchange on which the asset is most actively traded on the last trading day of the period, multiplied by                     
the number of units held without consideration of transaction costs. Equity instruments classified as Level 3                
refer to securities not quoted in active markets. The fair value is thus based on the latest available financial                   
statements (value of net equity).  

Derivative financial assets and liabilities classified as Level 2 refer to instruments to hedge fluctuations in               
foreign exchange rates and commodity prices (base metals). The total fair value is based on the price a                  
dealer would pay or receive for the security or similar securities, adjusted for any terms specific to that asset                   
or liability. Market inputs are obtained from well-established and recognised vendors of market data              
(Bloomberg and Reuters) and the fair value is calculated using standard industry models based on significant                
observable market inputs such as foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, swap rates, and interest rates. 

In order to determine the fair value of biological assets, a discounted cash flow model was used, with the                   
harvest cycle of six to seven years. Fair value measurement of biological assets is categorised within level 3                  
of fair value hierarchy. 

 
The fair value of our investments which are not valued daily in financial markets (unlike General Moly) is                  
based on the latest available financial statements (value of net equity, Level 3 fair value measurement).  
 

The following tables summarised the reconciliation of the fair value of the assets and liabilities classified as                 
Level 3 for the six months ending June 30, 2020: 

(in millions of Euros) 
Equity 

instruments 
not quoted Total 

Balance as of December 31, 2019 2 2 
Change in fair value(1) — — 
Balance as of June 30, 2020 2 2 
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(in millions of Euros) Biological assets  
Balance as of December 31, 2019 51 
Additions 3 
Change in fair value(1) 2 
Harvested trees  (8) 
Foreign exchange difference (14) 
Balance as of June 30, 2020 34 

 
Note: 
(1) Recognised the cost of sales in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. 

 

Portfolio of Derivatives 

The Company enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to fluctuations in exchange               
rates and the price of raw materials arising from operating, financing and investment activities.  

The Company’s portfolio of derivatives consists of transactions with Aperam Treasury S.C.A., which in turn               
enters into offsetting positions with counterparties external to Aperam. Aperam manages the counterparty risk              
associated with its instruments by centralising its commitments and by applying procedures which specify, for               
each type of transaction exposure limits based on the risk characteristics of the counterparty. 

The portfolio associated with derivative financial instruments classified as Level 2 as of June 30, 2020, is as                  
follows: 

 Assets Liabilities 

(in millions of Euros) 
Notional 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

Notional 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

Foreign exchange rate instruments     
Forward purchase contracts 56 1 90 (1)  
Forward sale contracts 72 — 107    (4)  
Total foreign exchange rate instruments  1  (5) 

Raw materials (base metal)     
Term contracts sales metals 30 2 62 (3)  
Term contracts purchases metals 42 2 34 (3) 
Total raw materials (base metal)  4  (6) 

Total  5  (11) 
 
 
NOTE 10 – COMMITMENTS 

  
The Company’s commitments consist of two main categories: 
 
- Various purchase and capital expenditure commitments, 
- Pledges, guarantees and other collateral instruments given to secure financial debt and credit lines,  
 

The total of commitments by category is as follows: 
 

(in millions of Euros) June 30, 2020  December 31, 2019 

Purchase commitments 1,294  1,465 
Guarantees, pledges and other collateral 184  224 
Total 1,478  1,689 
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NOTE 11 – CONTINGENCIES 

 
The Company is defendants in pending litigations, arbitrations or other legal proceedings. Most of these               
claims involve highly complex issues, actual damages and other matters. Often these issues are subject to                
substantial uncertainties and, therefore, the probability of loss and an estimation of damages are difficult to                
ascertain. Consequently, for a large number of these claims, the Company is unable to make a reasonable                 
estimate of the expected financial effect that will result from ultimate resolution of the proceeding. In those                 
cases, the Company has disclosed information with respect to the nature of the contingency. The Company                
has not accrued a reserve for the potential outcome of these cases. 

In the cases in which quantifiable fines and penalties have been assessed, the Company has indicated the                 
amount of such fine or penalty or the amount of provision accrued which is an  estimate of the probable loss. 

In a limited number of ongoing cases, the Company is able to make a reasonable estimate of the expected                   
loss or range of possible loss and has accrued a provision for such loss, but management believes that                  
publication of this information on a case-by-case basis would seriously prejudice the Company’s position in               
the ongoing legal proceedings or in any related settlement discussions. Accordingly, in these cases, the               
Company has disclosed information with respect to the nature of the contingency, but has not disclosed its                 
estimate of the range of potential loss. 

These assessments can involve a series of complex judgments about future events and can rely heavily on                 
estimates and assumptions. The Company’s assessments are based on estimates and assumptions that             
have been deemed reasonable by management. Management believes that the aggregate provisions            
recorded for these matters are adequate based upon currently available information. However, given the              
inherent uncertainties related to these cases and in estimating contingent liabilities, the Company could, in the                
future, incur judgments that have a material adverse effect on its results of operations in any particular period. 

In addition, in the normal course of business, the Company and its operating subsidiaries may be subject to                  
audit by the tax authorities in the countries in which they operate. Those audits could result in additional tax                   
liabilities and payments, including penalties for late payment and interest. 

The Company defends itself in various environmental labor, tax and other claims, the most significant are                
described in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ending December 31,                  
2019. Changes in contingencies since December 31, 2019, are described below: 

Tax Claims  

● On January 20, 2020, Aperam was notified about the decision of the motion of clarification presented                
by the Federal Union and about the appeal that they presented to the Superior Chamber of                
Administrative Court. On February 4, 2020, Aperam presented its answer reply to the Special Appeal               
filed by Federal Union and presented again its own appeal to the mentioned Superior Chamber               
(regarding the unfavorable part of the decision). The case concerns a tax assessment issued in 2013                
by the Federal Revenue Service for the years 2008 and 2009 regarding (i) the profit of Acesita                 
Imports & Exports Ltda to be included in the tax basis of Aperam South America and (ii) the goodwill                   
generated by the acquisition by Arcelor Aços Espeçiais do Brasil (“AAEB”) of the minority              
shareholding of Aperam South America at the time of its delisting in 2008. The total amount claimed                 
is R$410 million (€67 million).  
 

● On January 20, 2020, Aperam was notified about: (i) the decision of its motion of clarification, (ii) the                  
decision of Federal Union's motion of clarification and (iii) about the appeal presented by Federal               
Union to the Superior Chamber of Administrative Court. On February 4, 2020, Aperam presented its               
answer reply to the Special Appeal filed by Federal Union and presented its own appeal to the                 
mentioned Superior Chamber (regarding the unfavorable part of the decision) relating to a tax              
assessment on the tax benefit taken in 2010 and 2011 from the goodwill generated by the acquisition                 
of the minority shares for the delisting of Aperam South America that occured in 2008. The total                 
amount claimed by the Federal Revenue Service is R$250 million (€41 million).  

 
● On February 13, 2020, the first judicial level Court requested Aperam South America to indicate the                

evidence that it would like to adduce to confirm its allegations at Judicial Court. The case concerns                 
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a tax assessment by the Federal Revenue Service in relation to its calculation of social               
contributions on revenue (PIS and COFINS). The total amount claimed is R$67million (€11 million).  

 
● On April 3, 2020 Aperam South America filed a motion for clarification for the unfavorable decision                

issued in 2019 by the Special Chamber of Administrative Court (CARF) relating to two tax               
assessments for social contributions paid in relation to 2009 and 2010 “Profit Sharing Programme”              
for a total amount of R$50 million (€8 million).  

 
● On May 5, 2020, Aperam South America was ordered to present its counterarguments to the               

motion presented by the Federal Union and to indicate the evidence that it would like to adduce to                  
confirm its allegations at Judicial Court. The case concerns one of the four tax assessments issued                
against Aperam South America for a total amount of R$106 million (€17 million) considering that               
the Company did not pay several social contributions due on payments made to employees under               
the Profit Sharing Programme. 

Note: 
(1) Amounts in Brazilian Real are converted into Euros using the closing exchange rate of 1€=6,1539R$ 

 
 
 
NOTE 12 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
After June 30, 2020, in the context of the COVID-19 outbreak, the Company expects reduced demand activity                 
developing worldwide. The Company continues to monitor and evaluate its key business drivers, however, it               
is premature to properly estimate the length and severity of this COVID-19 outbreak and the resulting                
consequences on its business. The short-term negative effects are being largely mitigated with internal              
actions initiated by Management like strong cost variabilization plans and a focus on cash generation. The                
Company continues to invest in improving Aperam's competitiveness in the future. In this context,              
Management considers that future financial results will remain relatively resilient in a difficult macroeconomic              
environment.  
 
The Company will continue to further analyse developments and consequences of COVID-19 outbreak and              
implement mitigating actions during  the second part of the year 2020.  
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To the Shareholders of  
Aperam, Société Anonyme (« Aperam »)  
12C, Rue Guillaume Kroll  
L-1882 Luxembourg  

 
 
 
 
REPORT ON REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION  
 
Report of the Réviseur d’Entreprises Agréé                                                                                         on the Review of Interim 

Financial Statements  
Introduction 

We have reviewed the accompanying condensed consolidated statement of financial position of Aperam as of               
June 30, 2020 and the related condensed consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income,             
changes in equity and cash flows for the six-month period then ended and the other explanatory notes. The                  
Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of this interim financial information                
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. Our              
responsibility is to express a conclusion on this interim financial information based on our review. 

 

Scope of Review 

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410, “Review              
of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity. ” A review of interim                
financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting              
matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an                 
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us               
to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit.                   
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion. 

  

Conclusion 

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying                  
interim financial information does not present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the entity                 
as at June 30, 2020, and of the results of its operations for the six-month period then ended in accordance                    
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. 

  

For Deloitte Audit, Cabinet de Révision Agréé  

Marco Crosetto, Réviseur d’Entreprises Agréé 
Partner 

July 28, 2020 
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